# THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN RESILIENCE, PSYCHOLOGICAL CAPITAL, BURNOUT, AND GRIT IN DIRECT CARE STAFF

by

Nicholas Stoia

Liberty University

A Dissertation Presented in Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Liberty University

June 2024

THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN RESILIENCE, PSYCHOLOGICAL CAPITAL, BURNOUT, AND GRIT IN DIRECT CARE STAFF

<b>3</b> 1	•	1	1	$\alpha$	•
N	10	ha	0.0	Sto	110
1.7	10	пo	ias	IJИ	JIO

Liberty University

A Dissertation Presented in Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Doctor of Philosophy

Liberty University

June 2024

	APPROVED BY:
Name and degree	, Committee Chair
Name and degree, C	ommittee Member

#### **ABSTRACT**

The present study examined the relationship between resilience, psychological capital (PsyCap), grit, and burnout among direct care workers. The current study assessed other fields within direct care that have not been investigated. When it comes to research methodology, the current research utilized a quantitative approach. Participants were selected and sent the survey through the online platform. The present study had a total of 195 participants between the ages of 18-60. Participants were workers in agency settings within the direct care field. These agencies included state agencies, private agencies, non-profits, federal agencies, and home care. Specific types of direct care workers that were recruited included trainers, psychologists, aides, and other direct support professionals who have not been previously included in the literature. The current research utilized the Resilience Scale, the PCQ – 24, the Burnout -30, and the Grit N-14 scale. The Burnout 30 and the Grit N-14 scale were created by the researcher. Pearson correlation results indicated that there were significant positive relationships between Grit, resilience, and PsyCap, and in direct care staff. Burnout was negatively related to these variables. Additionally, MANOVA analyses revealed that there was also a significant relationship between resilience and age and a relationship between hope and years of service. A One-Way ANOVA further assessed these relationships. Future research could build upon this current research and further examine treatment plans, programs, and education on burnout for direct care staff as well as validate the Grit N-14 and Burnout-30 scales.

Keywords: Resilience, psychological capital, burnout, grit, direct care staff

© Nicholas Stoia, 2024

#### **Dedication**

I dedicate this page to my immediate family: My Wife Stephanie and our two children, Adam and Alena. I don't know where I would be without you guys especially you Stephanie. Through your continuous support and genuine love for me, I was able to finish and pursue my dreams and I thank you so very much. My biological Parents:

Nicholas and Jenn, Daniela and Erich. In – Laws - Therese and Jonathon. Special People in my life: My Aunt Maria and Uncle Adam. I also dedicate this page to my

Grandparents who passed away that played a big role in my life: Nicholas and Sara & Joseph and Rina. Last Dedication: I have to thank God for carrying and guiding me through everything. God has helped me with my past that has guided my future. "For I know the plans I have for you," declares the LORD, "plans to prosper you and not to harm you, plans to give you hope and a future. 12 Then you will call on me and come and pray to me, and I will listen to you. You will seek me and find me when you seek me with all your heart."

## Acknowledgments

I acknowledge my chair, Dr. Danisha Keating for all her hard work and dedication throughout this process and being there for me when I really needed it. I also acknowledge my second member Dr. Brittany Hernandez who I am thankful to have as a member and learn from. Thank you both for all your insight and hard work with me. This would not have been possible if it wasn't for you both.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	iii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vii
List of Tables	xii
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	1
Introduction	1
Background	1
Problem Statement	3
Purpose of the Study	4
Research Question(s) and Hypotheses	5
Research Questions	5
Hypotheses	5
Assumptions and Limitations of the Study	5
Theoretical Foundations of the Study	6
Definition of Terms	9
Significance of the Study	10
Summary	10
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	12
Overview	12
Description of Search Strategy	12
Review of Literature	
Direct Care staff	13
Job Satisfaction	14

Job Satisfaction and Work Environment	15
Job Performance	15
Burnout	16
Burnout and Depersonalization	16
Burnout Influencing Finances and Organizations	17
Burnout and Coping Skills	19
Physical and Emotional Connections with Burnout	19
Healthcare Workers and Burnout	20
Direct Care Staff and Burnout	21
Psychological Capital	22
Grit	23
Resilience	24
Psychological Resilience	25
Childhood Resilience	26
Adolescent Resilience	26
Resilience and Direct Care Staff	27
Attrition and Direct Care Workers	29
Retention and Direct Care Workers	30
Identification of the Gap	31
Biblical Foundations of the Study	32
Spirituality	32
Summary	34
CHAPTER 3: RESEARCH METHOD	36

Overview	36
Research Questions and Hypotheses	36
Research Questions	36
Hypotheses	36
Research Design	37
Participants	37
Study Procedures	38
Instrumentation and Measurement	39
Personal Data Sheet	39
Grit – N14	40
Burnout - 30	41
The Resilience Scale	42
The Psychological Capital Questionnaire – PCQ-24	42
Operationalization of Variables	43
Grit	43
Direct Care Staff –	43
Burnout –	43
Resilience –	43
Psychological Capital –	44
Data Analysis	44
Delimitations, Assumptions, and Limitations	44
Summary	45
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS	46

Overview	46
Descriptive Results	49
Study Findings	52
Research Question 1	52
Research Question 2	52
Research Question 3	53
Research Question 4	53
Additional Analyses	54
Summary	63
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION	64
Overview	64
Summary of Findings	64
Discussion of Findings	65
Implications	73
Limitations	75
Recommendations for Future Research	76
Summary	77
References	79
Appendix A	104
Appendix B	106
Appendix C	109
Appendix D	112
Appendix E	119

Appendix F	. 120
Appendix G	. 121

# **List of Tables**

Table 1 Measures Descriptive Statistics
Table 2 Frequencies for Categorical Demographics: Age, Years of Service, Gender, and
Occupation51
Table 3 Frequencies for Categorical Demographics: Education and Agency Type52
Table 4 Relationship Between Grit, Burnout, Resilience, and Psychological Capital54
Table 5 Relationship Between Grit, Burnout, Resilience, Psychological Capital, and
Psychological Capital Subscale56
Table 6 Relationship Between Grit, Burnout, Resilience, Psychological Capital, and
Psychological Capital Subscale57
Table 7 Relationship Between Gender on Grit, Resilience, and Psychological Capital58
Table 8 Relationship Between Age on Grit, PsyCap, Burnout, Resilience, and PCQ-24
Subscales59
Table 9 The Relationship Between Resilience and Age59
Table 10 Relationship Between Occupation on Grit, PsyCap, Burnout, Resilience, and
PCQ-24 Subscales60
Table 11 Relationship Between Years of Service on Grit, PsyCap, Burnout, Resilience,
and PCQ-24 Subscales61
Table 12 Relationship Between Education on Grit, PsyCap, Burnout, Resilience, and
PCQ-24 Subscales
Table 13 Relationship Between Agency Type on Grit, PsyCap, Burnout, Resilience, and
PCQ-24 Subscales63
Table G14 Field Test Descriptive Statistics

	٠	٠	٠	
X	1	1	1	
2 1	•	•	•	

Table G15	Relationship Between	Grit and Burnou	t Field Test	123

#### **CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION**

#### Introduction

This quantitative study will seek to examine if there is a relationship between burnout, grit, psychological capital, and resilience among direct care staff. The present study will attempt to investigate these variables in direct care staff careers that have been largely ignored in the previous literature. The present study also examines the subscales of the psychological capital quantitatively and seeks to find a relationship amongst direct care staff.

## **Background**

The current research examines if there is a relationship between resilience, psychological capital, grit, and burnout within the careers of direct care. According to the CDC Covid Response Team et al. (2020), direct care staff is defined through research as anyone who works or serves within healthcare settings. CDC Covid Response Team et al. (2020) also states that exposure can be direct or indirect and can also be composed of volunteers or anyone who helps provide a service. Some settings include but are not limited to hospitals, private and government agencies, nursing homes, veterans' homes, and various mental health centers (Kim, 2020). Research has been conducted examining resilience and burnout in doctors, social workers, nurses, and chaplains, but burnout and resilience in direct support professionals, psychologists, trainers, and other human service workers in large state agencies is limited (Antonsdottir et al., 2022). The current study will expand upon the variable (direct care worker) and what it is composed of in various positions in the human service field.

Much of the research that has been conducted related to grit, burnout, and resilience was completed before and at the beginning of the covid 19 pandemic. A study conducted by Flinkman et al. (2023) suggests that research on these variables needs to be further assessed after the covid 19 pandemic. Findings from Montgomery et al. (2021) state that psychological well-being is crucial for frontline nurses for them to provide the care that is needed. The authors of this study suggested that more research is needed to examine these topics in different settings. The researchers also created scales using the Copenhagen Burnout Inventory as a guide to further assess burnout in direct care staff in various settings. The world we live in is composed of believers and non-believers of both Christ and spirituality. James 1: 2-4 states, "Consider it pure joy, my brothers, and sisters, whenever you face trials of many kinds because you know that the testing of your faith produces perseverance" (New American Standard Bible, 1977).

Perseverance is a trait of grit and motivation (Montas et al., 2021). In a biblical worldview and for those of spirituality, these findings suggest that resilience and grit can be not only adopted but developed through spirituality and religiosity (Al Eid et al., 2020). Al Eid et al. (2020) concluded that people who had higher levels of religious beliefs had greater mental health.

Revelation 2: 19 states, "I know your deeds, your love and faith, your service and perseverance, and that you are now doing more than you did at first" (*New American Standard Bible*, 1977). The Bible states that we are made in God's image and that all things derive from God. This also means that grit and resilience can start and end with God. We should look to God and seek his help. Through his wisdom and guidance, we can overcome challenging situations and persevere.

#### **Problem Statement**

The current study examines direct care staff through many settings and career titles, and further assesses burnout amongst these groups of workers (Montgomery et al., 2021). The current study will enhance research by seeking to establish a relationship between burnout, grit, psychological capital, and resilience in direct care staff after the COVID-19 Pandemic, which research suggests is needed (Flinkman et al., 2023). Since the pandemic, people in society have been experiencing greater rates of anxiety, less sleep, financial hardships, burnout, and higher rates of psychological stress (Gupta et al., 2021).

Prior research states that there are limitations to the types of workers who have been included in research regarding direct care staff (Antonsdottir et al., 2022). Research has been conducted examining resilience and burnout in doctors, social workers, nurses, and chaplains, but burnout and resilience in direct support professionals, psychologists, trainers, and other human service workers in large state agencies is limited (Antonsdottir et al., 2022). Flinkman et al. (2023) suggests that individual strength, retention, grit, and organizational justice should be conducted post COVID-19. Their research suggests that COVID-19 would change due to workload, staff shortages, due to post-impact.

A study conducted by Pérez-Rojo et al. (2023) assessed resilience, burnout, quality of life, the purpose of life, and the quality of care in direct care staff in nursing homes. Pérez-Rojo et al. (2023) found a relationship between resilience, quality of care, life quality, growth, and life purpose in direct care staff. The findings suggested that workers who had higher rates of resilience provided better care had greater overall health, and more successful outcomes than those who had lower rates of resilience. Pérez-Rojo et

al. (2023) state in their limitations that research relating to resilience and direct care staff needs to be further assessed.

The present study focuses on a need to fill a void within the literature by assessing resilience, grit, burnout, and psychological capital in direct staff who have been previously ignored in the research. According to Luthans (2002a), psychological capital can be expressed as four components of personal traits consisting of hope, optimism, self-efficacy, and resilience. Psychological capital is the internal resources that people have developed over time that help people manage challenging situations (Luthans, 2002b). Psychological capital can also be defined vocationally as a positive outlook or positive behavior that is used to target performance within a workplace or organization (Luthans & Broad, 2022). The traits comprising psychological capital can influence grit and burnout (Terry et al., 2023); however, these variables have not been matched with the variables of burnout and direct care staff. Implications for this study include the development of interventions and programs for staff who may not have previously been included in past research related to these topics.

## **Purpose of the Study**

This quantitative study will seek to examine if there is a relationship between burnout, grit, psychological capital, and resilience among direct care staff. The present study will attempt to investigate these variables in direct care staff careers that have been largely ignored in the previous literature. The present study also examines the subscales of the psychological capital quantitatively and seeks to find a relationship amongst direct care staff.

## Research Question(s) and Hypotheses

#### **Research Questions**

**RQ1:** Will participants who have greater resilience have less burnout?

**RQ2:** Will participants who have greater Psychological Capital have lower burnout rates?

**RQ3:** Will those who have more grit display lower levels of burnout?

**RQ4:** Will those who are more resilient have greater Psychological Capital?

## **Hypotheses**

**Hypothesis 1:** Individuals who score higher on the Resilience Scale will have less burnout than those who score lower.

**Hypothesis 2:** Individuals who score higher on the Psychological Capital Questionnaire – 24 (PCQ – 24) will display lower rates of burnout than those who score lower.

**Hypothesis 3:** Individuals who score higher on the Grit Scale – (N14) will have greater resilience and less burnout than those who score lower.

**Hypothesis 4:** Individuals who score higher on the Resilience Scale will have higher scores on the PCQ - (24).

## **Assumptions and Limitations of the Study**

Just like all research, this current study has limitations and assumptions. The current study uses Surveymonkey, which is an online platform. Participants will answer questions independently and online. With that being said, the research outcome could be influenced due to social desirability and not answering truthfully, which not only affects the results but also external validity and internal validity. Additionally, online platforms do not elicit the same reactions as face-to-face studies because there is a barrier between

the researcher and the participant. Finally, two of the measures used in the study are researcher-created (the Grit N-14 and the Burnout–30), so there is no previously available data to confirm these measures correctly assess the intended constructs. This could cause a potential risk in the outcomes of the study and a type I or type II error.

Another threat derives from assumptions. These surveys are being administered via an online database; therefore, the researcher has to assume that the participants will be able to successfully read and understand the questions being asked. The researcher also has to assume that the participants will have the knowledge and abilities to use the technology and have the insight needed to complete the study.

Delimitations have been placed within this study. This study focuses on direct care workers; therefore, only direct care workers defined within the study will be asked to participate. This study is further assessing grit and resilience in direct care workers; therefore, a boundary as to who can participate must be made. The researcher will create the boundaries by selecting only careers that are relevant to direct care staff. Age is also a delimitation. There will be a restriction on age and all participants must be 18 years or older to participate in the study.

## **Theoretical Foundations of the Study**

One theory associated with this study derives from Luthans et al. (2007) assessing psychological capital and coining the term as a positive stage of development composed of self-efficacy, optimism, hope, and resilience. The researchers suggest that when people have the confidence they need, they will be more determined to succeed and accomplish challenging tasks. They also suggest that when a person is developing through certain stages, they develop resilient traits and can successfully defeat struggles and obtain their

end goal. If people learn to enable growth within themselves, then outside forces will not hinder them or their mindset.

The constructs of grit and burnout can be examined through the theory of Duckworth et al. (2007) who believe that grit is involved with stamina and the emotional capacity to keep pushing through in efforts to reach a goal. Duckworth et al. (2007) theorized that grit can be explained as a trait consisting of stamina, interest, and effort. Those who have higher rates of grit have greater levels of motivation, perseverance, and healthier mindsets. If people develop grittiness, then burnout rates should be less prevalent.

The construct of burnout is associated with theories such as the social cognitive theory, the social exchange theory, and the organizational theory (Edú-Valsania et al., 2022). The social cognitive theory of burnout derives from a person's self-esteem, self-concept, self-efficacy, and self-confidence (Edú-Valsania et al., 2022). How a person internally feels about themselves makes a difference in how they conduct themselves and do things. This means that if a person feels negatively about themselves, then they will struggle with many challenges as it pertains to personal and professional achievement. Within this theory, if a person feels like a failure, then they will fail.

The social exchange theory of burnout is when an employee does not feel reciprocity within the workplace (Edú-Valsania et al., 2022). This means that an employee wants to feel emotionally the same and receive the same sense of feelings that they give other people. For example, if an employee does favors for another employee to help them out with their job, that helping employee also expects help when they ask for

it. When any person, not just an employee, keeps helping others and the exchange of help is one-sided, the person will feel emotionally consumed. This can lead to burnout.

The organizational theory of burnout is associated with risk factors and environmental stressors within an organization (Golembiewski et al., 1983). These risk factors consist of heavy workloads, a decrease in organizational commitments to employees, low work fulfillment, and higher rates of depersonalization due to work. These factors contribute to burnout in entirety due to the challenges faced and projected within and by the organization.

Some people are both spiritual and religious and believe in a higher power. There are times when people pray and look to that higher power for answers, help, and thankfulness. Joshua 1:9 states, "Have I not commanded you? Be strong and courageous. Do not be afraid; do not be discouraged, for the Lord your God will be with you wherever you go" (*New American Standard Bible*, 1977). God will be with us from all walks of life, and he will guide us into the place where we need to go. God knows all things and through God, we can find the strength to persevere and overcome any challenges.

Jeremiah 29:11 states, "'For I know the plans I have for you', declares the Lord, 'plans to prosper you and not harm you, plans to give you hope and a future" (*New American Standard Bible*, 1977). This bible verse gives people hope, efficacy, and motivation.

When people are struggling and going through hard times, they turn to God and understand that they are being guided to where God wants them. Religion is significantly impactful for those who practice and live in a biblical worldview. Those perceiving their lives through a biblical worldview have the strength they need to accomplish their tasks

and go through catastrophes looking to God. Religion helps those develop grit, resilience, psychological capital, and motivation.

#### **Definition of Terms**

The following is a list of definitions of terms that are used in this study.

- 1. *Burnout* Burnout can be classified as severe physical or mental exhaustion over some time and can be expressed through exhaustion, irritability, loss of patience, loss of interest, and other emotional methods (Schaufeli, 2021).
- Direct Care Workers / Direct Care Staff- Direct care workers / direct care staff can
  be defined as anyone who works with or has exposure to populations they serve
  directly or indirectly in health care or agency settings (CDC Covid Response
  Team et al., 2020).
- 3. *Grit* Grit can be defined as an individual's motivation, perseverance, and passion to accomplish goals (Montas et al., 2021).
- 4. Psychological Capital- can be defined as internal strengths or coping skills that help a person overcome challenges (Luthans, 2002a). Psychological Capital (PsyCap) is expressed through several domains consisting of composed of hope, self-efficacy, optimism, and resilience (Luthans, 2002a). Psychological capital can also be defined vocationally as a positive outlook or positive behaviors that are used to target performance within a workplace or organization (Luthans & Broad, 2022).
- 5. *Resilience* Resilience is a person's ability to work through or overcome challenges, struggles, or hardships (Lin et al., 2019).

6. Retention- Retention can be defined as how an agency secures and keeps employees within their career or job setting for long periods (Khalid & Nawab, 2018).

## **Significance of the Study**

This present study seeks to find a relationship between resilience, grit, burnout, and psychological capital in direct care staff. The current study will not only the field but many organizations. This study seeks to establish relationships in topics that have never been studied collectively before, and it seeks to examine these topics in the context of the post-Covid-19 pandemic.

Future practical implications of this research could be the development of programs and procedures intended to retain direct care staff in the workforce. Future research could also explore if certain benefits or incentives could positively influence direct care staff in the field. Mental health and healthcare needs are rising every day. Future studies could extend this research by exploring how staffing shortages, workloads, and employee health could change in organizations, as well as how to keep attrition rates low.

## **Summary**

This research has a central focus on burnout, resilience, grit, and psychological capital in direct care staff. The present study will seek to find if significant relationships between these variables exist and how future studies could build upon this research to create positive work environments for direct care staff. The present study predicts that there will be a relationship between burnout, grit, resilience, and psychological capital in

direct care staff. The current study is needed to build on what is already known about these topics and to create new theories in research relating to these variables.

#### **CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### **Overview**

Chapter two of this dissertation provides a literature review of what current research states about the variables being examined. The current research examines the content areas of resilience, psychological capital, grit, and burnout in direct care workers. This chapter will provide an overview of direct care staff, resilience, grit, psychological capital, burnout, attrition, and retention. The current study will also discuss spirituality and how it relates to what has been thoroughly researched already.

## **Description of Search Strategy**

The researcher used multiple databases and strategies. Databases used were Google Scholar, St. Joseph's University library database, Liberty University library database, APA Database, the Holy Bible, ProQuest Databases, and other dissertation research. Terms such as direct care, resilience, grit, grit mindset, burnout, retention, direct care workers, attrition, and spirituality were used. This researcher started broadly with the terms grit, resilience, and burnout, then narrowed the search to focus on direct care workers. Biblical research was conducted using the bible and the Google Scholar research database. The biblical research in this study searched spirituality, resilience, and grit through religion.

#### **Review of Literature**

The current research is composed of five themes that were empirically studied consisting of direct care workers, burnout, resilience, grit, and psychological capital. The present study will review and discuss literature expressing the five themes. These five

themes were an interest of the researcher were lacking empirically to fill a gap in research and literature.

#### **Direct Care staff**

A direct care worker is anyone who has direct or indirect exposure to those in health care settings or hazardous materials (CDC Covid Response Team et al., 2020). Direct care workers can also be defined as essential workers who are employees or volunteers who help service those in healthcare settings (CDC Covid Response Team et al., 2020). Direct care staff are composed of psychiatric aides, health aides, home health aides, nursing assistants, and any direct care service worker (J. Kim, 2020). Direct care workers are found in the human service field and can be seen in government agencies, hospitals, nursing homes, institutional settings, mental health settings, community programs, residential, and non-residential centers (J. Kim, 2020). Most direct care staff that work in these types of settings have to be trained in many areas of direct care and receive formal training during their orientation (Menne et al., 2007). Direct care staff undergo training in physical interventions, crisis intervention with behavior, and how to create a safe environment (Knotter et al., 2018).

Many careers fall into the category of direct care workers including psychologists, supervisors, trainers, counselors, directors, specialists, doctors, nurses, and human resources in these settings (CDC Covid Response Team et al., 2020). Direct care staff can include licensed professionals or people who have lower skill levels (Bowblis, 2011). In many agency settings, direct care workers carry a title or name known as direct support professionals (DSPs) (Boamah, 2020).

Direct care workers provide an array of services to the populations they serve. Some direct care workers in agency, residential, and community environments assist their demographic population with activities of daily living (ADLs). When it comes to ADLs, direct care workers manage medications and conduct housekeeping, as well as dress, feed, bathe, and help their populations with toileting (Bennett et al., 2017). Research studies conducted by Kelly, Soles et al. (2020) and Zimmerman and Sloane (2007), state that direct care staff are responsible for hygiene, housework, and total care of the populations they are responsible for helping. Direct care staff are also responsible for not only providing services that promote physiological well-being through medical support but also providing support with psychological well-being with the population they serve. Direct support professionals provide support through residential and day programs, help with finances and medical needs, help with family dynamics, provide community inclusion, help build relationships, help with ADLs, provide counseling, help with networking, and help advocate on behalf of the people they serve (Hewitt & Larson, 2007).

#### **Job Satisfaction**

Job Satisfaction is defined as when a person feels confident, has and expresses positive feelings about their job, displays enthusiasm, feels a sense of accomplishment in a job, and has a positive sense of worth regarding a job (Pusparani et al., 2021). Other variables that contribute to job satisfaction are employee benefits, supervisor and organizational attitudes, stress, job security, work productivity, and motivation (Abuhashesh et al., 2019). Employees who are in the workforce are satisfied when they have compensation, work safety, consistency within an organization, good health

conditions, positive culture within the organization, and positive communication with peers (Bhardwaj et al., 2021).

#### Job Satisfaction and Work Environment

A study conducted by Taheri et al. (2020) found that employee job satisfaction derives mainly from the work environment. Participants felt greater job satisfaction when they worked in an environment that made them feel empowered, had social capital, had lower rates of stress, and a had great deal of knowledge about their work type (Lu et al., 2019). Not only is the environment a contributing factor in career satisfaction, but people feel a great sense of job satisfaction when they are rewarded for their efforts and are motivated within their job settings (Ali & Anwar, 2021). When employees are rewarded, they become more committed to the job, develop better performance, and are left internally satisfied with their current place of employment (Koo et al., 2020). A study conducted by Abdullah and Wan (2013) found that non-monetary incentives such as benefits, holiday benefits, and appreciation helped influence employee satisfaction in the workplace.

#### Job Performance

A study conducted by Loan (2020) found that the main contributor to job satisfaction was associated with job performance. People in the workforce who are compensated for their hard work and receive promotions perform better on the job, which leads to greater job satisfaction (Rinny et al., 2020). Job performance and internal motivation also derive from managers and how they not only engage their employees but motivate them (Riyanto et al., 2021). A study conducted by Hajiali et al. (2022) found that job performance shares a relationship with employee competency and meeting job

demands. Job performance is influenced by the ability of an employee to receive promotions and master what the job duties demand, which also affects employee job satisfaction (Razak et al., 2018).

#### **Burnout**

Burnout can be defined as physical and mental exhaustion over a period of time (Schaufeli, 2021). When burnout occurs, people are exhausted, lose interest, and are irritable (Yeatts et al., 2018). Burnout can occur in any career or job and happen to anyone (Leiter & Schaufeli, 1996). Burnout does not only occur within the workplace, those who have children, have a lack of sleep, and take care of a household can also experience burnout (Hubert & Aujoulat, 2018). When people get a full night's sleep and feel well-rested, they experience higher rates of employment satisfaction (Brossoit et al., 2020). Parents of children experience burnout due to chronic exposure to stress which can influence parental mindset (Mikolajczak et al., 2020).

## **Burnout and Depersonalization**

Depersonalization is a disorder in which a person experiences feelings of detachment physically or cognitively from their environment and can be out of touch with reality (Yang et al., 2023). Burnout can influence depersonalization, a reduced sense of accomplishment, and emotional exhaustion (Zhou et al., 2020). Burnout can be observed through a loss of emotion within oneself (Dall'Ora et al., 2020). Burnout is a response to constant stress at work and in life, which can lead a person to feel emotionally empty and not in sync with reality (Dall'Ora et al., 2020). According to Maslach (1998), when burnout occurs people begin to experience symptoms of depersonalization, decreases in competence and self-confidence, decreases in work

performance, and a loss of idealism. According to the American Psychiatric Association (2022), the DSM-5-TR states symptoms of depersonalization include distortions, feeling emotionally or physically numb, feeling not in tune with reality, lifelessness, and fogginess.

## **Burnout Influencing Finances and Organizations**

Burnout can lead to detrimental effects such as financial hardships and poor work-life balance (Zhou et al., 2020). Financial struggles that derive from burnout can be in the form of educational debt, poor financial literacy, and poor financial planning (Royce et al., 2019). Staff that are overworked and are faced with consistent adversity experience greater stress, which can lead to burnout, therefore influencing finances (Rasdi et al., 2021). Workers who face financial stress also have a greater risk of developing professional stress, which can lead to not only emotional exhaustion but also further financial hardships (Anastasiou & Anagnostou, 2020).

A study conducted by Rasdi et al. (2021) found that when people experience burnout, they lose interest in their jobs or quit, which affects financial security. Burnout does not only influence a person directly, but it also affects an organization in its entirety. When a person experiences severe burnout, attrition can happen, therefore the organization financially loses money spent on the employee (Hamidi et al., 2018). This pertains to employee onboarding, training, and time spent on a new employee if they leave. A study conducted by Al Sabei et al. (2020) found that positive working environments within the healthcare field have lower turnover rates within the organization when job satisfaction is high. This means that when workers have positive

emotions about their workplace and environment, they are less likely to experience burnout and leave their organization with staffing complications.

In recent years, burnout has been more prevalent due to the Covid-19 pandemic (Torrès et al., 2022). Burnout has influenced many people during the COVID-19 pandemic by decreasing social support, people feeling threatened, the inability to cope with what was happening around them, working longer hours, being confined and limited, and lack of information or resources needed (Galanis et al., 2021). People in the workforce experiencing burnout are facing impacts on their mental health, which not only influences their careers but can lead to financial hardships displayed through unemployment and a decrease in income (Trógolo et al., 2022). A study conducted by Ghaffar (2020) found that financial hardships do not only occur within the context of money but also resources. This means that care facilities need money to provide care and when that starts to dwindle, so do resources (Ghaffar, 2020).

Contrary, people who are in higher positions and supervisory roles that make more money and are in a position of power have lower burnout rates, which increases confidence, motivation, sense of power, and emotional well-being, and decreases depersonalization (Laker et al., 2019; Rajamohan et al., 2019). Employee perceptions of work environments, pay, resources, appreciation, motivation, and the totality of the organization influence burnout (Fargen et al., 2019; Yeatts et al., 2018). A study conducted by Suttikun et al. (2018) suggests that people will not leave their current place of employment if they genuinely enjoy what they do, which influences burnout and commitment to the organization they work for.

## **Burnout and Coping Skills**

Burnout can range in levels and is contingent upon the mastery of coping strategies that a person has (Bamonti et al., 2019). A study conducted by Bamonti et al. (2019) examined burnout and coping abilities in direct care nurses and found a relationship between burnout and lower coping abilities. Those who had higher levels of coping had less burnout within their work. People who utilize and incorporate their coping skills are better equipped to handle symptoms of burnout (ALmutairi & EL. Mahalli, 2020). A coping skill can be defined as the ability of a person to become aware of challenging external stimuli and change their internal thought process, which changes their behavior at a specific point in time to manage the challenge faced (Gladden, 2012). This means that if people cannot deal with stressors in the environment, then negative or unknown behavior changes could occur.

A study conducted by ALmutairi and EL. Mahalli (2020) found a relationship between coping skills and burnout in emergency medical professionals. The findings stated that 87.4 percent of their participants used talking with colleagues as a coping skill which helped them with depersonalization related to burnout. Coping skills can include hobbies and activities that are used to help a person who is struggling at any single point in time (Iwasaki, 2002). Leisure activities influence mental health and life satisfaction in people, which can increase the quality of life in a person (Tokay Argan & Mersin, 2021).

## Physical and Emotional Connections with Burnout

Severe burnout can lead to complications with sleep and emotional capacity, alongside emotional challenges (Bamonti et al., 2019). Individuals who are experiencing burnout can also experience depression, anxiety, and lower self-concept (Koutsimani et

al., 2019). Self-concept is defined as how an individual sees, judge, believes, and feels about themselves (Wehrle & Fasbender, 2019). This means burnout can influence how a person feels about themselves and is part of emotional regulation. Emotional regulation is when people become aware of their emotions in a situation and try to change the emotions to reflect their behavior (McRae & Gross, 2020). Emotional regulation and emotional dysfunction can reflect the level of burnout in a person.

#### **Healthcare Workers and Burnout**

Burnout is a psychological syndrome that occurs when people are exposed to stress over some time, and this is especially the case for healthcare workers (Embriaco et al., 2007). Burnout in healthcare occupations, especially direct care staff, can compromise patient safety, staff safety, and quality of care (West et al., 2020). Patients and those who work in the field of healthcare and human services are at risk for negative consequences due to lack of resources, staff shortages, and poor work environments, which can lead to burnout (White et al., 2020). Healthcare workers are more likely to experience burnout than the working general public due to the nature of their job duties and constant stress on the job (West et al., 2020). While constant stress, resources, and poor environments are major contributors to burnout, White et al. (2019) suggest tasks in healthcare workers contribute to burnout. White et al. (2019) found that nurses in the healthcare systems could not complete their tasks on their shift, which resulted in lower satisfaction with patient care. Similar findings suggest that healthcare workers' skill sets, and patient-to-staff ratio contribute to satisfaction and staff outcomes (Wynendaele et al., 2019).

When staff can provide adequate care for the populations they serve, burnout rates decrease and patient care is increased alongside satisfaction (Tawfik et al., 2019). Those who work for healthcare organizations are expected to work professionally and consistently provide a certain level of quality care to those in need (Wiig et al., 2020). Those in healthcare and direct care positions are at risk for burnout over any other profession (Flinkman et al., 2023). A study conducted by Shanafelt et al. (2012) found that physicians were 37 percent more likely to experience burnout than the regular working population.

#### **Direct Care Staff and Burnout**

On-the-job demand puts a large amount of stress on direct care workers (Ryan et al., 2021). Direct care workers have large caseloads, and they are not receiving the support that they need to provide quality care at a certain level, which can lead agencies to experience low levels of control (Ryan et al., 2021). This finding suggests that if direct support professionals are not having their needs met within the workforce, then they will experience high rates of stress and burnout. Direct care workers working with individuals with developmental disabilities, intellectual disabilities, and mental health diagnoses are at a high risk for burnout (Klaver et al., 2021).

The staff that are experiencing burnout symptoms are not only facing agency challenges with shortages and heavy workloads, but they are also faced with challenging behaviors (Klaver et al., 2021). A study conducted by Klaver et al. (2021) stated that direct care workers caring for those who are aggressive, violent, and need a high level of care may experience exhaustion and emotional struggles, which can lead to burnout. Such

direct care workers may find it difficult to cope, which leads to negative well-being (Klaver et al., 2021).

## **Psychological Capital**

Psychological Capital is known as internal strengths or coping mechanisms that help a person overcome challenges (Luthans, 2002a). Psychological capital as used in this study is more narrowly defined as a positive outlook or positive behavior that is used to target performance within a workplace or organization (Luthans & Broad, 2022). Psychological Capital (PsyCap) is composed of the factors of hope, self-efficacy, optimism, and resilience (Luthans, 2002a). The amount of psychological capital within an individual can influence psychological well-being, goal attainment, and career performance (Salanova & Ortega-Maldonado, 2019).

A study conducted by Grover et al. (2018) found that psychological capital influences job demands, perception of work, and work engagement in nurses. This means that those nurses who had greater psychological capital were better equipped to handle situations on the job and meet the hard demands and had greater engagement within their workplace settings. Not only is psychological capital a positive influence on oneself, but those who have resilience and optimism within the psychological capital domains have better work creativity and work perceptions (Yu et al., 2019). A study conducted by Zhang et al. (2021) suggests that psychological capital plays a positive role in job satisfaction.

The mental and physical health of an employee is crucial because any changes to the health conditions of a person can influence health, work performance, and behavior (Kun & Gadanecz, 2019). A study conducted by Tetteh et al. (2021) found that

employees who had greater psychological capital had higher rates of positive connections and work engagement and less turnover. Not only does greater psychological capital influence work engagement, but it also positively influences employee learning and employee goal attainment (Rozkwitalska et al., 2022). Employees who have higher psychological capital tend to have greater work performance and less burnout (Gong et al., 2019). Those with lower psychological capital have less resilience and grit, which influences mindset and can lead to people giving up or quitting in stressful situations (Baron et al., 2016).

## Grit

Grit is defined as how much perseverance, passion, and motivation a person has to accomplish long-term goals (Montas et al., 2021). Grit is a trait that can be associated with the mindset of a person that enhances goal commitment, accomplishment, and success (Lee et al., 2021; Tang et al., 2019). Those who are more passionate and motivated are more likely to overcome challenges and develop greater coping strategies than those who are less motivated and passionate (Sigmundsson et al., 2020). While perseverance, passion, and motivation are key factors in grit, other personality traits such as ego, self-esteem, hardiness, optimism, and positive self-concepts can enhance grit and promote wellness (Guimarães, 2018).

Self-efficacy is another term that can be discussed about grit. Self-efficacy is an internal motivator that contributes to goal attainment, perseverance, and overall performance (Usher et al., 2019). Self-efficacy can be defined as a person's internal ability to recognize and conquer what they seek to achieve (De La Cruz et al., 2021). Not only does self-efficacy influence grit in terms of performance and goal attainment, but

perseverance and motivation can lead to success and wellness in oneself (Meyer et al., 2020). A study conducted by Usher et al. (2019) found that self-efficacy contributed more to achievement and wanted outcomes than grit. This means that motivation comes from within oneself, rather than perseverance or goal attainment. Contrary to these results, Clark and Plano Clark (2019) found that people believed that networking, opportunity, and luck drove their success over grit.

Stress and burnout can hinder or stop determination and passion in terms of grit (Traino et al., 2019). This is explicitly seen in those who have careers in healthcare and direct care (Traino et al., 2019). Direct care workers who have passion, determination, and motivation to do well or make a difference have greater chances for success and greater outcomes in wellness (Clark and Plano Clark, 2019). Grit is a true influencer and self-catalyst in those with a strong mindset, and those who fight day and night to receive what they want with a goal in mind will achieve it and it will help develop into an identity (Luning & Ledford, 2020). Perseverance and passion, which are characteristics of grit can lead to positive goal attainment in oneself (Verner-Filion et al., 2020).

### Resilience

The ability to cope with the struggles of life and overcome hardships is called resilience (Lin et al., 2019). Resilience is learned and developed through adversity and exposure while changing through the process of overcoming it (Sisto et al., 2019). The earlier challenges are faced, the earlier the adoption of resilience can occur (Fritz et al., 2019). Resilience differs from grit and is a term used to classify, identify, and define a person who overcame a struggle and turned it into a positive (Vella & Pai, 2019).

Resilience in individuals has been associated with a greater quality of life, greater rates of satisfaction with life, and lower depression (Guimarães, 2018).

Resilience can be developed early on in childhood through correction and learning (Bayat, 2019). Those who are faced with childhood adversity, stress, and trauma have a higher risk of developing a mental health diagnosis (Fritz et al., 2019). Resilience can be developed in children early on if mental health difficulties are effectively treated through trauma-informed care (Bartlett & Steber, 2019). This means that if people have a better understanding of the adverse experiences and incorporate a person-centered approach, then children are better able to heal through the process and develop some form of resilience (Bartlett & Steber, 2019).

# **Psychological Resilience**

Resilience is strengthened with experience and exposure to stressful situations (Crane et al., 2019). This means that if people learn to find ways to help them get through certain situations, they can remember what they did last time to use again. This is known as psychological resilience. Choi et al. (2019) define psychological resilience as the ability of a person to overcome hardship through positive emotions and behaviors, while Denckla et al. (2020) define psychological resilience as emotions and behaviors recalled from a previous experience utilized in the current situation.

A study conducted by Tugade et al. (2004) found that those who established a certain level of psychological resilience were better able to cope in challenging times due to prior experience. Exposure to certain levels of stress may enhance the development of psychological resilience (Dooley et al., 2017). When people remain positive and learn to use positive emotions during hardships, then they can develop a positive coping skill to

use with future challenges (Tugade et al., 2004). Psychological resilience can be displayed through self-reflective thinking patterns which help a person develop insight within themselves to promote healthy emotional regulation in times of struggle (Crane et al., 2019).

### **Childhood Resilience**

Childhood resilience is the ability of children to adapt positively to negative unforeseen circumstances in the environment and from within (Sattler & Font, 2018). Childhood resilience is influenced by social support during the events (Leung et al., 2022). Those who have support are likely to overcome challenges over those who have less support (Newcomb et al., 2019). Not only can resilience be developed through connections, support, and exposure, but resilience can also be developed through inspiration and motivation (Whitfield & Wilby, 2021). Children are at the highest risk for maltreatment in their earlier years of life (Kim et al., 2017). Resilient traits in children are needed because these traits and characteristics promote and enhance mental health (Khanlou & Wray, 2014). Early intervention and adoption of resilient traits can help improve academics, employment, and social behavior (Khanlou & Wray, 2014). Those who are forced to adapt at younger ages can be reshaped through environmental factors, which can help lead them to persevere (Masten & Monn, 2015). Environmental influences such as family and friends can act as a catalyst and can help facilitate a successful pathway for children to accomplish their goals (Chapin, 2015).

## **Adolescent Resilience**

Adolescence is a time frame that can be defined as mental, physical, and emotional growth in a person (Bluth et al., 2018). Resilience shares similar findings with

attachment theory in that those who express low levels of resilience during adolescence are more likely to express those same low levels later on in life (Rolfe, 2020). This means that if people can learn to adapt and develop resilience early, it can lead to positive pathways and success, which in turn can make it easier to overcome future hardships (Koni et al., 2019). Resilience can be fostered by expressing and displaying compassion, kindness, empathy, and belonging (Slavich et al., 2022). A study conducted by Luthar et al. (2019) found that resilience was more likely to be developed through connections and emotional support. Those who develop a more secure attachment help promote emotional and behavioral defenses against negativity, hence promoting resilience (Lowell et al., 2014).

Resilience is associated with the parent-child relationship and outcomes in family dynamics (Twum-Antwi et al., 2020). Resilient adolescents are not born with innate resilience, but they learn resilience through exposure to how they were raised (Feldman, 2020). A study conducted by Szwedo et al. (2017) found that parents have a direct influence on their children through their use of negativity, behaviors, and communication. Adolescents and children who have an environment surrounded by positivity and guidance are more likely to develop resilience than those who are not in a positive environment (Stepp et al., 2011).

### **Resilience and Direct Care Staff**

Resilience can be expressed differently in direct care staff where there may be high work demands and staff shortages (Franck et al., 2022). In recent years, those who worked in healthcare and direct care settings have needed resilience due to experiencing high levels of distress (Di Giuseppe et al., 2021). A study conducted by Phillips et al.

(2022) also suggests that healthcare and direct care settings can pose a threat to workers psychologically, which is why resilience in these fields is needed. Those who are defined as direct care staff often undergo periods of distress and exhaustion, which can lead to detrimental effects due to the responsibilities they have (Kunzler et al., 2020). If resilience is not developed or adapted in those experiencing stress and adversity, then physical and mental health could be influenced.

Direct care staff also need to maintain a certain level of resilience to overcome disruptions in the agency, provide care, and adapt to what can happen in the exposed environments (Wiig et al., 2020). Resilience within direct care workers is crucial for longevity and wellness (Johnson et al., 2020). Johnson et al. (2020) researched resilience and adaptability in healthcare workers and students. Johnson et al. (2020) recruited 66 total participants from the healthcare field and provided workshops on job performance and challenges. The findings of Johnson et al. (2020) suggest that there were higher rates of confidence during challenges and greater resilience among healthcare professionals after the training. Johnson et al. (2020) concluded that programs within the workplace lead not only to greater levels of confidence but also to people developing coping strategies in adverse situations. A study conducted by Luibl et al. (2021) found that resilience and resilient qualities are lower in medical personnel in the first year when compared to others with more experience. This led to learning about resilience and adopting better habits. Direct care staff who have greater rates of resilience had positive feelings about the direct care field, better care for themselves, less burnout, and better client care than those with less resilience (Pérez-Rojo et al., 2023).

#### **Attrition and Direct Care Workers**

Attrition is defined as when people leave a job or school (Poon et al., 2022).

Attrition can be influenced by internal or environmental factors, such as participation and compensation (Khalid & Nawab, 2018). Studies have found that attrition is high among direct care workers due to lack of respect, low pay rates, training, psychological stress, and high stress related to job duties (Johnson et al., 2020; Paul & Fonceca, 2022; Spetz et al., 2019). Employees in the field of direct care leave their careers due to low recognition, poor policies, poor performance, and low organizational involvement in decision-making (HR & Aithal, 2020). Those in health care and direct care fields have attrition rates of over 30% when compared to the overall public (Dogru et al., 2023).

If caseloads and job demand are higher than incentives, then those in direct care fields will often leave (Spetz et al., 2019). An incentive can be described as a reward given and often relates to shaping or reinforcing behavior (Alkandi et al., 2023). When organizations provide incentives such as money, promotions, benefits, recognition, support, and resources attrition is less likely to occur (Abdullah & Wan, 2013). When it pertains to attrition, variables such as education, work satisfaction, sleep, wages, compensation, work hours, and supervisors are main contributors (Wang & Yuan, 2018). The research of Wang and Yuan (2018) suggests that when people are compensated for their work and enjoy what they do within their careers, then attrition rates are likely to decrease. Not only do compensation, incentives, internal motives, and respect play a role in attrition, but leadership and employee engagement act as a mediator (Quek et al., 2021). A similar study conducted by Van Wingerden and Poell (2019) found that there is a relationship between meaningful work and resilience, which resulted in people staying

in their place of employment and not quitting due to how meaningful their careers are. Direct care workers also have higher rates of attrition due to a lack of resources and inadequate equipment to perform the duties of the job (Narayan et al., 2018).

### **Retention and Direct Care Workers**

Retention can be defined as an organizational process that keeps employees within their career or job setting so those same employees can create long-term careers (Khalid & Nawab, 2018). A study conducted by Wang and Yuan (2018) found that retention of direct care workers derives from within the worker and is subjective. This means that retention and staying in a career long-term is solely based on personal feelings. Retention is associated with internal factors such as personal satisfaction with work performance and coping strategies with stress (Wang & Yuan, 2018).

When employees feel empowered and have great leaders within the organization, then retention increases (Quek et al., 2021). Employees in the workplace want to feel valued and have a sense of accomplishment, which gives them positive feelings about the organization and increases retention (Scales, 2021). When this happens, employees feel more intrinsic motivation and are more likely to stay or grow with an agency long-term, which reduces attrition rates (Boone, 2021).

Over the last few years, direct care staff in agency settings have been experiencing higher rates of turnover, lower job satisfaction, and greater staff shortages (Schug et al., 2022). Direct care workers in agency settings have had high turnover rates and have faced challenges with retention due to caseloads, low compensation, poor work hours, and limited advancement (Kim, 2020). Part of these struggles have been associated

with the global COVID-19 pandemic, and attrition has become more prevalent throughout careers within direct care (Xiao et al., 2021).

Retention also shares an association with burnout (Martínez-López et al., 2021). Martínez-López et al. (2021) suggest that burnout and exhaustion influence retention due to heavy caseloads, limited social time, limited interpersonal relationships, and limited personal time. Retention and attrition derive from people struggling with a work-life balance and the demands of what their duties entail (Kelly, Craft Morgan et al., 2020).

## Identification of the Gap

A research study conducted by Antonsdottir et al. (2022) examined moral resilience and burnout in healthcare workers. Moral resilience is the ability of a person to restore their integrity when their morals and character are questioned or challenged (Heinze et al., 2021). Antonsdottir et al. (2022) found that workers who had higher rates of moral resilience had less burnout and turnover. Antonsdottir et al. (2022) state that their research was limited to doctors, social workers, nurses, and chaplains, but that future considerations for research should examine other fields within healthcare services due to the high demands of healthcare workers and human service workers. Antonsdottir et al. (2022) suggest examining burnout and resilience in direct support professionals, psychologists, trainers, and other human service workers in large state agencies.

A research study conducted by Flinkman et al. (2023) examined individual strength, retention, grit, and organizational justice. Flinkman et al. (2023), found that resilience and grit were higher in nurses than the working general public and that a relationship between resilience, retention, and burnout exists. Another future consideration stated by Flinkman et al. (2023) is to study these variables in the post-

COVID-19 pandemic context, as other research was conducted before and during the pandemic. The researchers believe that effects after the height of COVID-19 would change due to workload, staff shortages, and post-impact.

Finally, a study conducted by Pérez-Rojo et al. (2023) assessed resilience, burnout, quality of life, the purpose of life, and the quality of care in direct care staff in nursing homes. Pérez-Rojo et al. (2023) found a relationship between resilience, quality of care, life quality, growth, and life purpose in direct care staff. The findings suggest that those who have greater resilience provided better care, had better health. and had greater outcomes within their work settings. Pérez-Rojo et al. (2023) suggest that future research should be done examining resilience and direct care staff.

### **Biblical Foundations of the Study**

### **Spirituality**

A study conducted by Al Eid et al. (2020) investigated the relationship between resilience and religion on mental health. The researchers examined 329 total patients with breast cancer. This study found that religion and spirituality can help people through hardships. This finding means that when people are faced with hard times or believe that what they are going through can be life-changing, they turn to faith. Al Eid et al. (2020) also found that those who had spiritual intelligence and beliefs expressed more effort and persistence during treatment and in their life than those of lower spirituality. This finding can be explained as external resilience. Those facing a challenge who were spiritual displayed more characteristics of grit through persistence and motivation. Al Eid et al. (2020) concluded that people who had higher levels of religious beliefs had greater mental health. The findings of Schweitzer et al. (2007) suggest that one of the major

influences in qualitative studies on resilience is faith and spirituality, which can be displayed through internal and external motivators related to grit. Those who incorporate a sense of spiritual well-being in terms of mindfulness and self-compassion have greater life satisfaction (Mathad et al., 2019).

A study conducted by Shinto et al. (2019) examined the variables of spirituality, happiness, and well-being. Those who are spiritual and happy have a positive sense of self, which leads to greater life satisfaction (Shinto et al., 2019). The variable spirituality plays an important role as it pertains to life satisfaction and resilience in many ways. According to Brelsford and Ciarrocchi (2013), resilient traits are derived from spiritual views. When people believe in a higher power, they often gain strength through their faith internally, which acts as a force to drive resilience. When this happens people can fall back on their faith to guide them. Spirituality and faith can be significant influencers and promote both grit and resilience in any one person. Religious and spiritual perception can form a solid foundation for ego resiliency (Brelsford & Ciarrocchi, 2013).

In Scripture, James 1: 2-4 states, "Consider it pure joy, my brothers, and sisters, whenever you face trials of many kinds because you know that the testing of your faith produces perseverance. Let perseverance finish its work so that you may be mature and complete, not lacking anything" (*New American Standard Bible*, 1977). In a biblical worldview and for those of spirituality, this scripture suggests that resilience and grit can be not only adopted but developed through God and faith.

According to the Bible, God knows everything. Revelation 2: 19 states, "I know your deeds, your love and faith, your service and perseverance, and that you are now doing more than you did at first" (*New American Standard Bible*, 1977). Resilience and

grit should start with God as the creator. If people learn to develop grit and resilient traits, then they can develop psychological resiliency and learn from experience. These same people must also learn from the scripture and understand that just like faith, grit, and resilience takes time.

A relationship with God is lifelong and never ends. Even when we are in heaven, we are with God in the holy place. It takes perseverance and an extraordinary ability to cope with the life we are given. The second we seek salvation, a relationship with God starts and never ends as long as people seek him. What we are driven by can change our path at any one given time. By not giving up, we can reach both destinations of heaven and our aspirations, without letting the negative challenges consume us.

#### Summary

The present study focuses on five key concepts. They are direct care workers, burnout, resilience, grit, and psychological capital. In terms of this research, direct care workers are defined as any worker who directly or indirectly impacts individuals in any health care, agency, private, community, or personal setting (Kim, 2020). This study seeks to identify if there is a relationship between direct care staff, burnout, psychological capital, resilience, and grit.

Literature states that burnout can happen to anyone and does not discriminate against just those in the workplace (Hubert & Aujoulat, 2018). While grit is perseverance, motivation, and passion to accomplish goals (Montas et al., 2021), resilience is the ability to hurdle over challenges and turn them into a positive (Vella & Pai, 2019). The current study will utilize psychological capital, which is a term composed of hope, self-efficacy, optimism, and resilience (Luthans, 2002a). All these terms can be linked with a biblical

worldview, which can enhance the quality of work direct care staff do every day. Spirituality can lead to greater grit and resilience, and less burnout in oneself.

This study will seek to identify if a relationship between burnout, psychological capital, resilience, and grit exists in direct care staff. It seeks to fill several gaps in the current research including seeking to further validate current measures used in the literature. The current research also seeks to examine burnout due to high caseloads and staff shortages due to COVID-19. The current research is needed, not only because it has never been done before, but because it enhances research by adding on to previous literature and knowledge.

### **CHAPTER 3: RESEARCH METHOD**

### Overview

The present study examined the relationship between resilience, grit, psychological capital, and burnout in direct care workers. There is little research in the field that focused on these variables together and in this context. The present study investigated these variables in direct care staff careers that have been largely ignored in the previous literature.

## **Research Questions and Hypotheses**

### **Research Questions**

**RQ1:** Will participants who have greater resilience have less burnout?

**RQ2:** Will participants who have greater Psychological Capital have lower burnout rates?

**RQ3:** Will those who have more grit display lower levels of burnout?

**RQ4:** Will those who are more resilient have greater Psychological Capital?

### **Hypotheses**

**Hypothesis 1:** Individuals who score higher on the Resilience Scale will have less burnout than those who score lower.

**Hypothesis 2:** Individuals who score higher on the Psychological Capital Questionnaire – 24 (PCQ – 24) will display lower rates of burnout than those who score lower.

**Hypothesis 3:** Individuals who score higher on the Grit Scale – (N14) will have greater resilience and less burnout than those who score lower.

**Hypothesis 4:** Individuals who score higher on the Resilience Scale will have higher scores on the PCQ - (24).

### Research Design

The research design used in this study was a Pearson r Correlation. This design was chosen because the study examined a relationship between the variables resilience, grit, psychological capital, and burnout. A MANOVA was used to examine differences among groups and gender within the scales and subscales. A One-Way ANOVA was also used to examine differences between age and resilience. These groups included years of service, agency type, highest level of education, age, and occupation. The Psychological Capital Questionnaire subscales included self-efficacy, hope, resilience, and optimism. No within groups and no pre-or post-measures were used. The proposed study on relationship between resilience, burnout, and grit in direct care staff is needed for research. The literature stated that not only is this topic limited, but definitions of direct care staff should be expanded. The research also filled a gap based on literature and research using the PCQ-24, the Resilience Scale, the Grit N-14, and the Burnout-30 instruments for validity.

### **Participants**

Participants were recruited through Surveymonkey, an online platform that allowed the current research study to be done online. Surveymonkey gave permission to use their platform and to use participants. The present study sought to examine approximately 125 participants. This is the number needed to establish the power of the study through a G-power analysis for a medium effect size. Participants recruited were between the ages of 18-60 years old and included workers in agency settings within the direct care field. These agencies included state agencies, private agencies, non-profits, federal agencies, and home care agencies. Specific types of direct care workers that that

were recruited included trainers, psychologists, aides, direct support professionals, psychiatrists, counselors, any professional assistant, and a category of other. The other category included those who serve in a direct care position not listed and can be included in the research as a qualifying title that has not been previously included in the literature.

### **Study Procedures**

Participants were recruited through Surveymonkey, which is an online database. There were different versions and subscriptions to Surveymonkey based on price. The researcher of the current study paid for the premium (highest) subscription. This subscription allowed the researcher to click or check off the careers that the surveys were sent to through the database. Participants were matched automatically through the qualifying criteria met by the researcher. The criteria were age, agency type, and type of direct care career. The research questions and informed consent were given together in one research survey.

Participants were first taken to the consent form with instructions to read independently. By APA ethical guidelines, the consent form explained the nature of the study and the types of questions asked with the time commitment required. Participants were informed of the research process and were told that there were no risks by participating in the research study. Participants were told that participation is voluntary, that they can leave at any time, and that there was no incentive at this time (See Appendix A Consent Form). If participants declined to give consent, the study automatically closed and was not given.

Each participant participated in the research alone. Participants were seated at their leisure and in their subjective area. Participants were given the survey virtually and

individually through their own media devices. After completing the informed consent, participants then completed the Personal Data Sheet, which collected demographic information (See Appendix B). All responses remained anonymous, participants were working alone, and they were only known by the number of received surveys. This ensured confidentially and safety among all participants. Following the completion of the Personal Data Sheet, participants moved on to each section of the survey at their own pace. All materials of the study corresponded with the participant by survey number.

Once completed, the participants submitted the entire study, which included the Personal Data Sheet along with the survey. This ensured confidentiality. Once all materials were received, the researcher evaluated and analyzed the results. If participants had questions about the study or results of the study, they were notified that they could contact the researcher. The researcher's information was on the consent form along with IRB and committee chair information. Participants were also reminded that the results are to be kept for three years after the study, and then they will be destroyed to ensure confidentiality and safety amongst them through the consent form process.

#### **Instrumentation and Measurement**

#### **Personal Data Sheet**

The following information was obtained through a personal data sheet: Age, gender, current occupation, years of service, your highest education, and agency setting type (See Appendix B for Personal Data Sheet). The personal data sheet was used to examine differences between gender and all of the categorical variables. The personal

data sheet and the categorical variables were also used to examined relationships between resilience, grit, psychological capital, and burnout.

#### **Grit - N14**

Due to copyright restrictions, limited access to scales of measurement, inconsistencies with author permission, and publication restrictions for previous measures of grit, the researcher created a new scale to measure this construct. The researcher used the 12-item Grit Scale created by Duckworth et al. (2007) as a guide to create this new measure. The researcher did not copy any language or scoring techniques from the authors, but just used it as a reference. The newly created measure is called the Grit – N14.

The Grit–N14 is a 14-item measure used to assess grit in an individual (See Appendix C). The Grit – N14 uses a 5-point Likert-type rating scale ranging from 1 (*Strongly Disagree*) to 5 (*Strongly Agree*) and has a maximum score of 70 and a lowest possible score of 14. Higher scores indicate more grit a person has. Sample questions include, "I often reach and obtain my goals", "I am a very motivated person", "I am a dedicated and passionate worker", and "I have high levels of perseverance and accomplish most things". The Grit – N14 has been field tested and analyzed (See Appendix F) as well as panel reviewed by experts to further enhance quality, reliability, and validity. During field testing, participants gave insight into the scales of

measurement, which helped eliminate possible errors or confounding variables that could pose a risk in terms of validity.

#### Burnout - 30

Due to copyright restrictions, limited access to scales of measurement, inconsistencies with author permission, and publication restrictions for previous measures of burnout, the researcher created a new scale to measure this construct. The researcher used the Copenhagen Burnout Inventory by Kristensen et al. (2005) as a reference and guide to create a new measure to further evaluate burnout. The researcher did not copy any language or scoring techniques from the authors, but just used it as a reference. The newly created scale to measure burnout is called the Burnout–30 Scale (See Appendix D). The Burnout–30 is a 30–item measure that uses a 5-point Likert-type rating scale ranging from 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 5 (Strongly Agree). Some questions are reversed scored. For example, a 5 in reverse scoring would mean (Strongly Disagree, and 1 would mean (Strongly Agree). Sample questions include, "I cannot work with others anymore", "I am over working with others", "I get angry or frustrated easily with coworkers", "I become easily angry", "I have little patience", "I am easily irritable with work", "I feel symptoms of burnout from work", and "I feel physically and mentally drained". Higher Scores indicate greater burnout.

The Burnout 30 has been field tested and analyzed (See Appendix F). The Burnout–30 has also been panel-reviewed by experts to further enhance quality, reliability, and validity. During the field test, participants and expert reviewers followed up with the researcher with any questions or concerns related to the field test. The

researcher and reviewers addressed these issues and enhanced the quality of the burnout 30.

#### The Resilience Scale

The Resilience Scale (RS; Wagnild & Young, 1993) measured resilience and resilient characteristics in an individual (See Appendix E). The RS is a 25-item measure that focuses on what is going right, rather than wrong in a person's life and assesses strengths over weaknesses in an individual. Responses are graded on a 7-point Likert-type rating scale ranging from 1 (*Strongly Disagree*) to 7 (*Strongly Agree*). Sample questions include, "I feel proud that I have accomplished things in life", "My belief in myself gets me through hard times", and "My life has meaning." The RS can range in scores from 25 (poor resilient qualities) to 175 (extreme resilient qualities).

The RS has been found to have high internal consistency reliability with .70 for group comparisons and .90 to .95 for individual comparisons (Wagnild, 2009). The Cronbach alpha coefficient for the resilience scale ranges from .85 to .94 which has been reported to be excellent (Wagnild, 2009).

### The Psychological Capital Questionnaire – PCQ-24

The Psychological Capital Questionnaire – PCQ-24 (Luthans et al., 2007) was used to measure psychological capital within a person (See Appendix F for PCQ-24 sample questions). Psychological capital is known as internal strengths or coping mechanisms that help a person overcome challenges. The PCQ-24 has a central focus on an individual's self-efficacy, resilience, optimism, and hope (Luthans et al., 2007).

The PCQ-24 is a 24-item measure that uses a 6-point Likert-type rating scale that ranges in scores from 1 (*Strongly Disagree*) to 6 (*Strongly Agree*).

The Psychological Capital Questionnaire – 24 has been found to have high levels of validity and reliability (i.e., internal consistency). A study conducted by Cui et al. (2021) found that Cronbach's alpha for the scale was 0.886, and the test-retest reliability was 0.825. Another study conducted by Cid et al. (2020) stated that the PCQ–24 Cronbach's alpha was .92 and had a composite reliability coefficient of .95. For this study, the English version of the PCQ-24 is being used.

## **Operationalization of Variables**

Grit – this variable is a ratio variable and will be measured by the total score on the GritN14.

**Direct Care Staff** – is a nominal variable that will be measured by the researcher-created demographic questions (Personal Data Sheet) asking participants to select the category they fall within for professional careers.

**Burnout** – this variable is a ratio variable and will be measured by the total score on the Burnout -30.

**Resilience** – this variable is a ratio variable and will be measured by the total score on The Resilience Scale (Wagnild, 2009).

**Psychological Capital** – this variable is a ratio variable and will be measured by the total score on The Psychological Capital Questionnaire -PCQ -24 (Luthans & C. Youseff et al., 2007).

### **Data Analysis**

The research design used in this study was a Pearson *r* Correlation. This design was chosen because the study examined the relationship between the variables resilience, grit, psychological capital, and burnout. A MANOVA was used to examine differences among groups. These groups included gender, years of service, agency type, highest level of education, age, and occupation. A One-Way ANOVA was also used to examine differences between age and Resilience. There are no within groups and no pre- or post-measures being used. The researcher used Surveymonkey to administer the survey. The researcher used SPSS version 29 for all data analysis.

# **Delimitations, Assumptions, and Limitations**

The present study had limitations, as will any study. Due to the database Surveymonkey being used, the surveys were self-answered, which means that bias based on social desirability or subjective feelings could limit the study. For example, someone might be experiencing a symptom of burnout but might not be fully aware of it, therefore they answered the question less accurately. Another limitation of this study is that the original measures that were supposed to be used are not being used due to copyright and permission issues; therefore, newly developed measures were used. Due to new measures created by the researcher, reliability, and validity could pose a threat.

Another threat derives from assumptions. The entire survey was administered via an online database; therefore, the researcher had to assume that the participants were be

able to successfully read and understand the questions being asked. The researcher also had to assume that the participants had the knowledge and abilities to use the technology and have the insight needed to complete the study.

Delimitations have been placed within this study. This study focused on direct care workers; therefore, only direct care workers defined within the study were asked to participate. This study further assessed grit and resilience in direct care workers, therefore a boundary as to who can participate was made. The researcher created the boundaries by selecting only careers that are relevant to direct care staff. Age is also a delimitation. There was a restriction on age and all participants were 18 years or older who participated in the study.

#### Summary

This study used quantitative data analysis to determine if a relationship exists between resilience, grit, psychological capital, and burnout in direct care staff, specifically, those careers that have been largely ignored in previous literature. The present study used new scales of measurement created by the researcher to assess grit and burnout. The present study also examined these scales and the subscales of the psychological capital to determine if a relationship amongst direct care staff. The present study also determined if a relationship between resilience, grit, psychological capital, and burnout on the categorical variables within the personal data sheet exists.

#### **CHAPTER 4: RESULTS**

#### **Overview**

The purpose of this quantitative, correlational study is to examine if there was a relationship between resilience, grit, psychological capital, and burnout in direct care staff. This design was chosen because the study examined the relationship between resilience, grit, psychological capital, and burnout. The research questions examined were; Will participants who have greater resilience have less burnout? Will participants who have greater Psychological Capital have lower burnout rates? Will those who have more grit display lower levels of burnout? Will those who are more resilient have greater Psychological Capital?

The researcher used an online survey database (Surveymonkey) to host the research survey. The consent form and study information were given first. If respondents answered no on the consent form, then the survey closed. The next section included the demographic questions. Sample questions included, "What is your highest level of education?" "What is your current occupation?" and "What agency type do you work for?" Then, all four surveys were given at one single time in sequential order (i.e., the Grit N-14, Burnout-30, Resilience Scale, and Psychological Capital Questionnaire).

Once all individual surveys were completed, the participants submitted their survey. If participants have questions about the study or would like the results of the study, they can contact the researcher. The researcher's information is on the consent form along with IRB and committee chair information. Participants were also reminded that the results would be kept for three years after the study, and then they would be

destroyed to ensure confidentiality and safety amongst them through the consent form process.

After submission, the researcher went through each survey to ensure that the participants had an occupation and agency setting that qualified for the study. The qualifications for the study were that participants must be between the ages of 18-60 years old and must be workers in agency settings within the direct care field. These agencies included state agencies, private agencies, non-profits, federal agencies, clinics, home care agencies, and treatment centers. Specific types of direct care workers that were recruited included trainers, psychologists, aides, direct support professionals, psychiatrists, counselors, any professional assistant, and other direct care workers that did not fit into any of these categories. The "other" category included those who serve in a direct care position not listed and can be included in the research as a qualifying title that has not been previously included in the literature.

There were 255 total surveys sent out via Surveymonkey to participants nationwide. Out of those 255 total surveys, 17 participants stated "no" on the consent form, which disqualified participants from continuing the study. Out of the total 238 submitted surveys, 17 were omitted due to being incomplete (e.g., missing 13 or more questions). All surveys that were retained were only missing five or fewer items. An additional seven surveys were excluded due to participants not providing either their occupation or agency. Finally, there were 19 total participants who did not have a career that qualified for the study either due to the career not being in the direct care field or due to the career being one that had already been included in previous literature. Some

examples of non-qualifying occupations that were omitted were nurses, administrators, veterinarians, scientists, team mentors, firefighters, and supervisors.

There were 195 participants who met the inclusion criteria. All survey data was entered into an Excel spreadsheet, and each survey was annotated with age, gender, occupation, years of service, education level, and agency setting. Each spreadsheet was also annotated by completed survey, incomplete survey, disqualified survey, and omitted survey due to the reasons previously mentioned. Data for each measure was computed into an Excel spreadsheet the order it was given in the survey (i.e., Grit N-14, Burnout-30, The Resilience Scale, and then The PCQ-24). The researcher entered every data point into Microsoft Excel spreadsheets according to participant. Each participant had cells within the spreadsheet from 1 to 195 to match up each participant with a completed survey. All demographic information was entered corresponding with the correct participant number.

As stated previously, all surveys that were retained were only missing five or fewer items. Imputation was used to replace missing values. According to Zhang (2016), imputing missing data that focuses on single imputation can be completed by using mean, median, and mode within datasets. According to Zhang (2016), using this method of imputation works just as well as than any other method when it comes to single imputation involving a handful of missing values. According to Zakaria and Salleh (2016), using averages such as mean and median for imputation is recommended and superior to other methodologies of imputation. The researcher used mean five times, median thirty-three times, and mode one time to impute single values. This is a total of 39 surveys that had single imputations. All three of these techniques were used due to

numerical values not being whole numbers. The researcher started out using the mean to obtain a whole number and if a decimal derived from this, median was then used. If both mean and median were not whole numbers, mode was used to impute the single imputation. The imputed scores fell within the average range of the Likert-type rating scales and represented the average of the score values.

Once each survey was examined by the researcher, the researcher scored all the measures using Excel and used a calculator to double-check those scores to ensure that the score and numbers matched each time. Each measure that had reverse scoring was also double checked using excel and a calculator. Each score and data point were then computed into SPSS version 29 from Excel for data analysis. Pearson correlations were conducted to determine significant relationships among variables. Additional MANOVA analyses were used to examine differences among groups. These groups included gender, age, years of service, agency type, highest level of education, and occupation. A One-Way ANOVA was used to further explore group differences when needed. There were no within groups and no pre- or post-measures used.

### **Descriptive Results**

All demographic and survey data were computed into SPSS version 29. Out of the total 238 surveys submitted, 195 participants met the criteria for the study and completed the survey in totality. Participant ages were between 18 and 60. Data obtained also included occupation, gender, education level, years of service, and type of agency worked in. All participants that qualified for the study were direct care staff as supported by this study's definition. Mean, median, percentages, and standard deviation were also

computed in SPSS. Refer to Table 1, Table 2, and Table 3 for descriptive statistics gathered from the personal data sheet and the four measures.

**Table 1** *Measures Descriptive Statistics* 

Descriptive Statistics							
	N	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation		
Grit N-14 Scale	195	33.00	70.00	44.4051	4.70084		
Burnout 30 Scale	195	32.00	118.00	76.5026	19.61547		
Resilience Scale	195	100.00	175.00	139.0718	19.10754		
PCQ – 24 Scale	195	72.00	143.00	110.9128	14.34758		
Valid N (listwise)	195						
Valid N (listwise)	195						

Table 2

Frequencies for Categorical Demographics: Age, Years of Service, Gender, and Occupation

	N	Percent
Age		
18-21	4	2.1%
22-29	33	16.9%
30-35	38	19.5%
36-40	28	14.4%
41-45	25	12.8%
46-50	22	11.3%
50+	11	5.6%
Years of Service		
1-5	46	23.6%
6-10	53	27.2%
11-15	31	15.9%
16-20	21	10.8%
21-25	20	10.3%
26 - 30	13	6.7%
30+	11	5.6%
Gender		
Male	60	30.8%
Female	133	68.2%
Other	2	1.0%
Occupation		
DSP's	60	30.8%
Clinical Specialists	6	3.1%
Counselor	25	12.8%
Psychologist	8	4.1%
Trainer	6	3.1%
Professional Assistant	47	24.1%
Psychiatrist	2	1.0%
Therapist	13	6.7%
EMT	6	3.1%
Pharmacy Professional	4	2.1%
Medical Assistant	14	7.2%
CNA	4	2.1%

 Table 3

 Frequencies for Categorical Demographics: Education and Agency Type

	N	Percent
Education Level		
High School	18	9.2%
Some College	34	17.4%
Associates	31	15.9%
BA Degree	42	21.5%
MA Degree	46	23.6%
Post Grad Work	9	4.6%
Doctorate	12	6.2%
Other	3	1.5%
Agency Type		
State	41	21.0%
Private	71	36.4%
Non- Profit	62	31.8%
Home Care	19	9.7%
Federal Agency	2	1.0%

**Study Findings** 

# **Research Question 1**

The first research question was: Will participants who have greater resilience have less burnout? The hypothesis for this research question that individuals who score higher on the Resilience Scale will have less burnout than those who score lower was accepted. As seen in Table 4, there is a significant and moderate negative relationship between resilience and burnout, r(193) = -0.488, p < .001 (two tailed). Those who have higher levels of resilience are less likely to experience burnout.

# **Research Question 2**

The second research question was: Will participants who have greater

Psychological Capital have lower burnout rates? The hypothesis for this research

question that individuals who score higher on the Psychological Capital Questionnaire –

24 (PCQ – 24) will display lower rates of burnout than those who score lower on the PCQ-24 was accepted. As seen in Table 4, there is a significant and moderate negative relationship between psychological capital and burnout, r(193) = -0.568, p < .001 (two tailed). Those who have higher levels of psychological capital are less likely to experience burnout.

### **Research Question 3**

The third research question was: Will those who have more grit display lower levels of burnout? The hypothesis for this research question that individuals who score higher on the Grit Scale – (N14) will have greater resilience and less burnout than those who score lower was accepted. As seen in Table 4, there is a significant and weak negative relationship between grit and burnout r (193) = -0.318, p < .001 (two-tailed). Those who have higher levels of grit have lower levels of burnout. There was also a significant and weak relationship between grit and resilience r (193) = 0.327, p < .001 (two-tailed). Those who scored higher on grit also scored higher in resilience and displayed lower burnout was also accepted.

### **Research Question 4**

The fourth research question was: Will those who are more resilient have greater Psychological Capital? The hypothesis for this research question that individuals who score higher on the Resilience Scale will have higher scores on the PCQ – (24) was accepted. As seen in Table 4, there is a significant and strong positive relationship between resilience and psychological capital, r(193) = 0.758, p < .001 (two tailed). Those who have higher resilience have greater psychological capital.

As shown in Table 4, a Pearson's *r* correlation revealed that there is a significant relationship between grit and burnout, burnout and resilience, burnout and psychological capital, and Psychological Capital and Resilience. These relationships show significance with a p-value of .05. While these relationships were significance, the strongest relationship was between the resilience scale and the psychological capital questionnaire with .758.

 Table 4

 Relationship Between Grit, Burnout, Resilience, and Psychological Capital

1			•	C	-
		Correlati	ons		
		Grit N-14	Burnout 30	Resilience	PCQ - 24
		Scale	Scale	Scale	Scale
Grit N-14 Scale	Pearson	1	318**	.327**	.274**
	Correlation				
	Sig. (2-tailed)		<.001	<.001	<.001
	N	195	195	195	195
Burnout 30	Pearson	318**	1	488**	568**
Scale	Correlation				
	Sig. (2-tailed)	<.001		<.001	<.001
	N	195	195	195	195
Resilience Scale	Pearson	.327**	488**	1	.758**
	Correlation				
	Sig. (2-tailed)	<.001	<.001		<.001
	N	195	195	195	195
PCQ - 24 Scale	Pearson	.274**	568**	.758**	1
	Correlation				
	Sig. (2-tailed)	<.001	<.001	<.001	
	N	195	195	195	195

<sup>\*\*.</sup> Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

## **Additional Analyses**

Additional analyses were conducted to explore relationships among variables and subscales outside of the hypotheses. As shown in Table 5 and Table 6, Pearson's r correlations revealed that there were significant relationships between the Psychological

Capital Subscales (i.e., self-efficacy, hope, resilience, and optimism) and the study variables. Grit was found to be positively correlated with Self-Efficacy, r(193) = 0.242, p< .001 (two tailed), Hope, r (193) = 0.259, p < .001 (two tailed), Subscale Resilience, r(193) = 0.159, p = .027 (two tailed), and Optimism, r(193) = 0.34, p = .001 (two tailed). Burnout was found to be negatively correlated with Self-Efficacy, r(193) = -.315, p <.001 (two tailed), Hope, r(193) = -0.489, p < .001 (two tailed), Subscale Resilience, r(193) = -.417, p < .001 (two tailed), and Optimism, r(193) = -.616, p < .001 (two tailed). Resilience (as measured by the Resilience Scale) was found to be positively correlated with Self-Efficacy, r(193) = .613, p < .001 (two tailed), Hope, r(193) = 0.692, p < .001(two tailed), Subscale Resilience, r(193) = .607, p < .001 (two tailed), and Optimism, r(193) = .569, p < .001 (two tailed). Finally, Psychological Capital was found to be positively correlated with Self-Efficacy, r(193) = .804, p < .001 (two tailed), Hope, r(193) = 0.863, p < .001 (two tailed), Subscale Resilience, r(193) = .819, p < .001 (two tailed), and Optimism, r(193) = .789, p < .001 (two tailed). There is also a significant relationship between Grit and Psychological Capital, r(193) = 0.274, p < .001 (two tailed).

**Table 5**Relationship Between Grit, Burnout, Resilience, Psychological Capital, and Psychological Capital Subscale

-	Correlations								
		Grit N-			PCQ -				
		14	Burnout 30	Resilienc	24	Self -		Resilienc	
		Scale	Scale	e Scale	Scale	Efficacy	Норе	e	Optimism
Grit N-	Pearson	1	318**	.327**	.274**	.242**	.259**	.159*	.234**
14	Correlati								
Scale	on								
	Sig. (2-		<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	.027	.001
	tailed)								
	N	195	195	195	195	195	195	195	195
Burnou	Pearson	318**	1	488**	568**	315**	489**	417**	616**
t 30	Correlati								
Scale	on								
	Sig. (2-	<.001		<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001
	tailed)								
	N	195	195	195	195	195	195	195	195
Resilie	Pearson	.327**	488**	1	.758**	.613**	.692**	.607**	.569**
nce	Correlati								
Scale	on								
	Sig. (2-	<.001	<.001		<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001
	tailed)								
	N	195	195	195	195	195	195	195	195
PCQ -	Pearson	.274**	568**	.758**	1	.804**	.863**	.819**	.789**
24	Correlati								
Scale	on								
	Sig. (2-	<.001	<.001	<.001		<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001
	tailed)								

<sup>\*\*.</sup> Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

<sup>\*.</sup> Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

**Table 6**Relationship Between Grit, Burnout, Resilience, Psychological Capital, and Psychological Capital Subscale

	Correlations								
		Grit N-	Burnou			Self -			
		14	t 30	Resilience	PCQ - 24	Efficac			Optimis
		Scale	Scale	Scale	Scale	у	Hope	Resilience	m
	N	195	195	195	195	195	195	195	195
Self -	Pearson	.242**	315**	.613**	.804**	1	.653**	.565**	.398**
Efficac	Correlati								
у	on								
	Sig. (2-	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001		<.001	<.001	<.001
	tailed)								
	N	195	195	195	195	195	195	195	195
Hope	Pearson	.259**	489**	.692**	.863**	.653**	1	.593**	.598**
	Correlati								
	on								
	Sig. (2-	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001		<.001	<.001
	tailed)								
	N	195	195	195	195	195	195	195	195
Resilie	Pearson	.159*	417**	.607**	.819**	.565**	.593**	1	.569**
nce	Correlati								
	on								
	Sig. (2-	.027	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001		<.001
	tailed)								
	N	195	195	195	195	195	195	195	195
Optimi	Pearson	.234**	616**	.569**	.789**	.398**	.598**	.569**	1
sm	Correlati								
	on								
	Sig. (2-	.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	
	tailed)								
	N	195	195	195	195	195	195	195	195

<sup>\*\*.</sup> Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

Additional MANOVA analyses were run to explore differences in the study variables according to various demographics. Within Table 7 a MANOVA analysis did not find a relationship between Gender (*Male, Female, Other*) and Grit, PsyCap,

<sup>\*.</sup> Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

Burnout, or Resilience, p = .777. The p value is greater than .05, which is not significant. Therefore, there appears to be no significant differences in grit, PsyCap, burnout, resilience, or the psychological capital subscales based on gender. This suggests that gender does not significantly influence these variables.

 Table 7

 Relationship Between Gender on Grit, Resilience, and Psychological Capital

	Multivariate Tests								
	Hypothesi								
	Effect	Value	F	s df	Error df	Sig.			
Intercept	Pillai's Trace	.964	615.208 <sup>b</sup>	8.000	185.000	<.001			
	Wilks' Lambda	.036	615.208 <sup>b</sup>	8.000	185.000	<.001			
	Hotelling's Trace	26.604	615.208 <sup>b</sup>	8.000	185.000	<.001			
	Roy's Largest Root	26.604	615.208 <sup>b</sup>	8.000	185.000	<.001			
Gender	Pillai's Trace	.060	.718	16.000	372.000	.775			
	Wilks' Lambda	.941	.717 <sup>b</sup>	16.000	370.000	.777			
	Hotelling's Trace	.062	.716	16.000	368.000	.778			
	Roy's Largest Root	.047	$1.090^{\circ}$	8.000	186.000	.372			

a. Design: Intercept + Gender

Table 8 reflects a MANOVA that was conducted to examine if there were significant differences in Grit, PsyCap, Burnout, Resilience, and the PCQ-24 Subscales based on age. Results indicated that p = .145, which is not significant. While the main MANOVA displays no significance, the Bonferroni Post Hoc did find significance between the measures Resilience and Age.

b. Exact statistic

c. The statistic is an upper bound on F that yields a lower bound on the significance level.

 Table 8

 Relationship Between Age on Grit, PsyCap, Burnout, Resilience, and PCQ-24 Subscales

Multivariate Tests								
Effect		Value	F	Hypothesis df	Error df	Sig.		
Intercept	Pillai's Trace	.994	3725.397 <sup>b</sup>	8.000	181.000	<.001		
	Wilks' Lambda	.006	3725.397 <sup>b</sup>	8.000	181.000	<.001		
	Hotelling's Trace	164.658	3725.397 <sup>b</sup>	8.000	181.000	<.001		
	Roy's Largest Root	164.658	3725.397 <sup>b</sup>	8.000	181.000	<.001		
Age	Pillai's Trace	.298	1.214	48.000	1116.000	.154		
	Wilks' Lambda	.732	1.220	48.000	894.658	.149		
	Hotelling's Trace	.327	1.223	48.000	1076.000	.145		
	Roy's Largest Root	.148	3.445°	8.000	186.000	.001		

a. Design: Intercept + Age

Within Table 9, a One-Way ANOVA was used to further assess the relationship between resilience and age. Results showed that there is a relationship between age and resilience, F(6,188) = 2.319, p = .035,  $n^2 = .0689$ . A Tukey's Post Hoc Test revealed that there were differences between those in the age group 18 - 21 and 41 - 45 with a p value of .024, and a main difference between the 18 - 21 age group and the 51+ group with a p value of .022. Those in the 51+ group had more resilience than both the 18 - 21 and 41 - 45-year-old groups.

**Table 9**The Relationship Between Resilience and Age

		ANOVA	1		
Resilience Scale					
	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Between Groups	4880.145	6	813.358	2.319	.035
Within Groups	65948.850	188	350.792		
Total	70828.995	194			

As shown in Table 10, a MANOVA was conducted to examine if there were significant differences in Grit, PsyCap, Burnout, Resilience, and the PCQ-24 Subscales

b. Exact statistic

c. The statistic is an upper bound on F that yields a lower bound on the significance level.

based on occupation. Results indicated that p = .191, which suggests they are not significant. Therefore, there is no relationship between Occupation, grit, PsyCap, burnout, resilience, and the PCQ-24 Subscales. This suggest that Occupation does not significantly impact these variables.

**Table 10**Relationship Between Occupation on Grit, PsyCap, Burnout, Resilience, and PCQ-24
Subscales

Multivariate Tests								
Effect		Value	F	Hypothesis df	Error df	Sig.		
Intercept	Pillai's Trace	.992	2689.594 b	8.000	176.000	<.001		
	Wilks' Lambda	.008	2689.594 b	8.000	176.000	<.001		
	Hotelling's Trace	122.254	2689.594 b	8.000	176.000	<.001		
	Roy's Largest Root	122.254	2689.594 b	8.000	176.000	<.001		
Occupation	Pillai's Trace	.511	1.135	88.000	1464.000	.191		
	Wilks' Lambda	.583	1.136	88.000	1163.569	.191		
	Hotelling's Trace	.573	1.134	88.000	1394.000	.193		
	Roy's Largest Root	.174	2.891°	11.000	183.000	.002		

a. Design: Intercept + Occupation

Table 11 reflects a MANOVA that was conducted to examine if there were significant differences in Grit, PsyCap, Burnout, Resilience, and the PCQ-24 Subscales based on years of service. Results indicated that p = .010, which suggests there are significant differences. Therefore, there is relationship between Years of Service, grit, PsyCap, burnout, resilience, and the PCQ-24 Subscales. This suggests that Years of Service does play a role within direct care and these variables. A Bonferroni Post Hoc Test was used to examine where the significance between groups was, and it was

b. Exact statistic

c. The statistic is an upper bound on F that yields a lower bound on the significance level.

determined that the main difference involved the Subscale Hope and occurred between those who had 1-5 years and 6-10 years of service, p = .016. Those who had 6-10 years of service showed greater levels of hope than those who had 1-5 years of service. There was also a significant difference between the 1–5-year group and 16 - 20 years of service group, p = .010. Those who had 16 - 20 years of service had greater hope than those who had 1-5 years of service.

**Table 11**Relationship Between Years of Service on Grit, PsyCap, Burnout, Resilience, and PCQ-24 Subscales

	-	Multivariate	Tests			
Effect		Value	F	Hypothesis df	Error df	Sig.
Intercept	Pillai's Trace	.996	5216.806 b	8.000	181.000	<.001
	Wilks' Lambda	.004	5216.806 b	8.000	181.000	<.001
	Hotelling's Trace	230.577	5216.806 b	8.000	181.000	<.001
	Roy's Largest Root	230.577	5216.806 b	8.000	181.000	<.001
Years Service	Pillai's Trace	.365	1.507	48.000	1116.000	.015
	Wilks' Lambda	.673	1.564	48.000	894.658	.010
	Hotelling's Trace	.432	1.615	48.000	1076.000	.006
	Roy's Largest Root	.263	6.104°	8.000	186.000	<.001

a. Design: Intercept + Years Service

As shown within Table 12, a MANOVA was conducted to examine if there were significant differences in Grit, PsyCap, Burnout, Resilience, and the PCQ-24 Subscales based on education level. Results indicated that p = .326, which suggests no significant differences. This suggests that education does not significantly impact these variables in direct care staff.

b. Exact statistic

c. The statistic is an upper bound on F that yields a lower bound on the significance level.

**Table 12**Relationship Between Education on Grit, PsyCap, Burnout, Resilience, and PCQ-24 Subscales

Multivariate Tests							
Effect		Value	F	Hypothesis df	Error df	Sig.	
Intercept	Pillai's Trace	.993	3216.244 <sup>b</sup>	8.000	180.000	<.001	
	Wilks' Lambda	.007	3216.244 <sup>b</sup>	8.000	180.000	<.001	
	Hotelling's Trace	142.944	3216.244 <sup>b</sup>	8.000	180.000	<.001	
	Roy's Largest Root	142.944	3216.244 <sup>b</sup>	8.000	180.000	<.001	
Education Level	Pillai's Trace	.312	1.084	56.000	1302.000	.314	
	Wilks' Lambda	.723	1.079	56.000	974.641	.326	
	Hotelling's Trace	.336	1.071	56.000	1248.000	.339	
	Roy's Largest Root	.109	2.524°	8.000	186.000	.013	

a. Design: Intercept + Education Level

Table 13 reflects a MANOVA was conducted to examine if there were significant differences in Grit, PsyCap, Burnout, Resilience, and the PCQ-24 Subscales based on agency type. Results indicated that p = .455, which is not significant. Therefore, there is no relationship between Agency Type, grit, PsyCap, burnout, resilience, and the PCQ-24 Subscales. This suggests that Agency Type does not significantly impact these variables.

b. Exact statistic

c. The statistic is an upper bound on F that yields a lower bound on the significance level.

**Table 13**Relationship Between Agency Type on Grit, PsyCap, Burnout, Resilience, and PCQ-24
Subscales

Multivariate Tests								
Effect		Value	F	Hypothesis df	Error df	Sig.		
Intercept	Pillai's Trace	.984	1440.253 <sup>b</sup>	8.000	183.000	<.001		
	Wilks' Lambda	.016	1440.253 <sup>b</sup>	8.000	183.000	<.001		
	Hotelling's Trace	62.962	1440.253 <sup>b</sup>	8.000	183.000	<.001		
	Roy's Largest Root	62.962	1440.253 <sup>b</sup>	8.000	183.000	<.001		
Agency Type	Pillai's Trace	.167	1.013	32.000	744.000	.449		
	Wilks' Lambda	.842	1.009	32.000	676.466	.455		
	Hotelling's Trace	.177	1.005	32.000	726.000	.462		
	Roy's Largest Root	.087	2.023°	8.000	186.000	.046		

a. Design: Intercept + Agency Type

### Summary

This study found relationships between resilience, grit, psychological capital, and burnout in direct care staff. The current study also found differences within certain age groups and years of service contributed within the direct care field. The results suggest that burnout and direct care have a relationship in terms of how much grit, resilience, and psychological capital, including hope a person has. Higher rates of grit, resilience, and PsyCap can influence the severity of burnout within any individual. Those who are older have more resilience than those of younger ages, and those that have more years of service have more hope than those with fewer years.

b. Exact statistic

c. The statistic is an upper bound on F that yields a lower bound on the significance level.

#### **CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION**

#### Overview

The purpose of this quantitative, correlational study was to examine if there was a relationship between resilience, grit, psychological capital, and burnout in direct care staff. Results indicated significant relationships between resilience, grit, psychological capital, and burnout in direct care staff. The current study also found differences within certain age groups and years of service contributed within the direct care field.

## **Summary of Findings**

The findings suggest that there is a relationship between grit, resilience, psychological capital, and burnout in direct care staff. In support of hypotheses 1 and 2, those who have higher resilience and psychological capital are less likely to experience burnout than those who have low levels of resilience and psychological capital. In support of hypothesis 3, those who have higher levels of grit are more likely to experience lower levels of burnout and higher levels of resilience. In support of hypothesis 4, those who have higher rates of resilience also had higher levels of psychological capital than those who had lower rates of resilience.

Additional analyses indicated that there were no differences between males or females in terms of burnout, grit, resilience, or psychological capital. There were also no differences in these variables based on occupation, education, or agency type. However, the current study found that there is a relationship between resilience and age. Those who were in the older age group (51+) had more resilience when compared to those aged between 18 and 21. Those who were in the 51+ category did have higher mean scores than any of the other age groups. This may suggest that as people age, they adapt and

develop traits that can help them become more resilient. Similarly, there were significant differences in levels of hope depending on years of service. Those who have been working for longer (16-20 years) displayed more hope than any other years of service group. Those who worked for 1-5 years had the lowest rates of hope.

# **Discussion of Findings**

These findings suggest that there is a relationship between grit, resilience, psychological capital, psychological capital subscales, and burnout in direct care staff. The results suggest that these direct care staff in home care agencies, state agencies, private agencies, federal agencies, and non-profit agencies could be experiencing burnout as it is related to lower rates of grit, resilience, and psychological capital. Research states that direct care staff are responsible for the care and tending of others (Hewitt & Larson, 2007). If direct care staff are experiencing symptoms of burnout, they could potentially display due lower rates of grit, resilience, and psychological capital. If this happens, then the level of care could decrease. The direct care workers would be so physically and mentally tired that they could not care for others. If they cannot care for others, then they will most likely lose their careers. If they lose their careers, then other crises such as mental health and personal finances start to appear (Anastasiou & Anagnostou, 2020). If these direct care staff are so tired every day, they are most likely not taking care of themselves either, which could lead to other medical issues.

The current study found relationships between grit, resilience, psychological capital, and the psychological capital subscales in direct care staff. Direct care staff work long hours, have high demands, and there are staff shortages in the field (Klaver et al., 2021). The direct care workers that have low resilience, grit, and psychological capital

may experience symptoms of burnout and face challenges in their careers or personal life. Such direct care staff may experience depersonalization and lack the psychological capacity to work through the short and long challenges (Maslach, 1998). This will also influence retention rates within organizations and personal goal attainment in people.

When it comes to healthcare workers, burnout rates could influence work environments. Workers experiencing burnout may not do their job to their full potential, which can cause poor work performance and unhealthy environments. (Luthans & Broad, 2022). There may be an increase in death rates and medication errors, while a decrease in cleanliness. Attitudes due to low self-efficacy, resilience, grit, and psychological capital would hinder motivation and well-being (Salanova & Ortega-Maldonado, 2019). When people are experiencing burnout, they are not their ideal self. They can become angry easier and faster, upset or frustrated, and even depressed. The traits of resilience, grit, and psychological capital can take time to develop within a person. Agencies could host trainings, give incentives, and facilitate opportunities for people to have better working conditions. People are more likely to stay when they feel they individually matter, are paid what the work entails, have benefits, and work in a good environment (Bhardwaj et al., 2021). Having awareness, training, and workshops on burnout, resilience, grit, or psychological capital could make a significant difference in the work and lives of the individual people.

The constructs of grit and burnout can be examined through the theory of Duckworth et al. (2007) who believe that grit is involved with stamina and the emotional capacity to keep pushing through in efforts to reach a goal. Duckworth et al. (2007) theorized that grit can be explained as a trait consisting of stamina, interest, and effort.

Those who have higher rates of grit have greater levels of motivation, perseverance, and healthier mindsets. If people develop grittiness, then burnout rates should be less prevalent. This study validated this theory through the result that those of higher age have higher rates of resilience. The age group (51+) had higher rates of resilience than any other age group when it came to mean scores, and these resilience rates were significantly higher than certain younger age groups (i.e., 18–21-year-olds). This establishes a connection between stamina, effort, perseverance, emotional capacity, and mindset through age. This theory is also supported through the relationship between grit and burnout. Those who had greater levels of grit, had lower burnout rates. Burnout and grit are both variables that are associated with motivation, mindset, stamina, interest, and perseverance. Those who display greater levels of grit can display perseverance, motivation, passion, and positive mindsets (Montas et al., 2021).

The construct of burnout is associated with theories such as the social cognitive theory, the social exchange theory, and the organizational theory (Edú-Valsania et al., 2022). The social cognitive theory of burnout derives from a person's self-esteem, self-concept, self-efficacy, and self-confidence (Edú-Valsania et al., 2022). How a person internally feels about themselves makes a difference in how they conduct themselves and do things. This means that if a person feels negatively about themselves, then they may struggle with many challenges as it pertains to personal and professional achievement. Within this theory, if a person feels like a failure, then they will fail.

The social exchange theory of burnout is when an employee does not feel reciprocity within the workplace (Edú-Valsania et al., 2022). This means that an employee wants to feel valued when they work hard. An employee wants to feel that they

will receive positive benefits in return for the great work they do. For example, if an employee does favors for another employee to help them out with their job, that helping employee also expects help when they ask for it. When any person, not just an employee, keeps helping others and the exchange of help is one-sided, the person will feel emotionally consumed. This can lead to burnout.

The organizational theory of burnout is associated with risk factors and environmental stressors within an organization (Golembiewski et al., 1983). These risk factors consist of heavy workloads, decreases in organizational commitments to employees, low work fulfillment, and higher rates of depersonalization due to work. These factors contribute to burnout due to the challenges faced and projected within and by the organization.

All three of these theories related to burnout (Social cognitive theory, Social Exchange theory, and Organizational theory) have been validated through the current study. If people have less psychological capital, which encompasses self-efficacy, hope, resilience, and optimism, then they are more likely to experience higher rates of burnout within the workplace. How people feel about their careers may either enhance or hinder grit, which will influence retention. If the mindset of people is negative and they have no hope, optimism, self-efficacy, or sense of self, then they will leave the workplace or have poor job performance. This influences how people feel about themselves.

The present study found a relationship between resilience and age and years of service and hope. This study found that those in the oldest age group (51 and older) had more resilience than any other age group when it came to mean scores. There was a significant difference between the oldest group, those aged 51 and older, and the

youngest group, 18 – 21-year-olds. It is likely that those who are older have developed resilience throughout the course of their lifespan. Those who are 51 and older have more life experiences and have had more opportunity to develop traits of resilience than younger generations. This does not mean that younger age groups do not face challenges and have no resilience, but those who are older have more time to develop, learn, and grow throughout the longevity of their life. It is also possible that those who are older have faced more challenging situations, inevitably due to years of living. Those who are older could potentially look back in retrospect and have comparisons in situations, while younger age groups have nothing to compare to (Denckla et al., 2020). Those of older age groups grew up in a different time. Both the world and time are dynamic. They are always changing; therefore, the way things were done ten, fifteen, twenty, and thirty years ago are different than they are now. It is likely that if you examine an individual who is 18 years old in modern society and compare them to a 50-year-old, there are many differences in terms of traits and mindset. There are so many variables as to why there could be a difference between older age groups and younger groups in terms of resilience. Life is subjective, no two lives are the same throughout the lifespan, and people have different lifespan experiences.

Similarly, another relationship was found between years of service and hope. Those who worked for 16 - 20 years had more hope than any other years of service group. Those who worked for 1- 5 years had the lowest rates of hope. It is possible that those who are employed for longer periods of time have a stronger mindset and greater psychological capital, especially hope within their choice of work. Those who work longer potentially have a more positive mindset about future ideology. Someone who

puts in more years of service might be closer to retirement, receiving a decent wage, and have a different perception about job security than those who just start a career. When it comes to being a direct care professional in certain job titles, it becomes a career, which means greater longevity. Those who work for longer years might have greater hope due to the life they are working towards having. As previously stated, the mindset that comes with age is potentially similar with years of service. The more service years a person has, they also age within their career. Perception of work, work engagement, job influence, and psychological capital contribute to how long a person will work (Grover et al., 2018). According to Snyder (2000), hope is associated with goal attainment, motivation, and persistence. Those who have hope can have more perseverance to achieve their personal goals. This does not mean that those who just started a career have no hope or goal attainment, but those who have longer years of service have greater psychological capital overall in terms of hope and achieving what they have worked so long to possibly achieve. Hope is associated with grit and those who have more grit, had greater hope. The grittier a person is, the more hope they are likely to have.

Interestingly, the results displayed by the MANOVA found no differences between grit, resilience, psychological capital, or burnout based on gender, occupation, education, or agency type. It is possible that in this study, these relationships are not significant because these variables are not related to such demographics and external workplace characteristics but are rather based on the internal qualities that a person has. In this study the variables gender, education, occupation, or agency type did not influence how a person feels or relates to having grit, resilience, psychological capital, and feeling burnout.

A study conducted by Schweitzer et al. (2007) suggests that resilience was adopted by utilizing coping skills which derive from religion. Those that prayed and searched for happiness or strength to overcome a challenge were able to do so through spirituality. This means that resilience was displayed through internal and external motivators related to grit. It is possible that those who have higher levels of grit, resilience, and psychological capital are spiritual in terms of faith. A similar study conducted by Brelsford and Ciarrocchi (2013), suggests that resilient traits derive from spiritual views. Future research could examine religious and spiritual views alongside these variables and the newly created measures to see if there are more relationships between the variables.

In Scripture, James 1: 2-4 states, "Consider it pure joy, my brothers, and sisters, whenever you face trials of many kinds because you know that the testing of your faith produces perseverance." It is possible that certain direct care staff in the occupations that were examined in this study were spiritual and religious. It is also likely that these participants who seek spirituality or religiosity have more grit and resilience than those who do not seek spirituality or religiosity. Those who have faith to guide them may use their faith to face their challenges and overcome the situation through their beliefs, hence developing both resilience and psychological capital through their use of their beliefs (Schweitzer et al., 2007). This ideology also relates to the other findings of age associated with resilience. Those who were in the oldest age group displayed more resilience than the younger age group. Similar findings involved those who had more years of service in the field of direct care having higher levels of hope. More years of service means that people age inevitably through the years as they work. Those of older ages who displayed

more resilience possibly have more faith than younger ages. In psychology, this is not uncommon. As people age, they often turn to faith and have an increase in religiosity (Bengtson et al., 2015).

"Let perseverance finish its work so that you may be mature and complete, not lacking anything" (*New American Standard Bible*, 1977). In a biblical worldview and for those of spirituality, this scripture suggests that resilience and grit can be not only adopted but developed through God and faith. Those who have more hope might be more spiritual or religious than those who have less hope. Hope is related to psychological capital and resilience; therefore, there is a possibility that those had more hope have faith or spirituality in some way, which helps them overcome the struggles they are faced with. Corinthians 1: 13-13 states, "And now these three remain: faith, hope and love. But the greatest of these is love." Hope is a key component in psychological capital and influences how people think and move on. If people have hope and faith, there is a possibility that they might be grittier, have more resilience, have greater psychological capital, and be better equipped to succeed in a challenging time.

According to the Bible, God knows everything. Revelation 2: 19 states, "I know your deeds, your love and faith, your service and perseverance, and that you are now doing more than you did at first" (*New American Standard Bible*, 1977). Resilience, psychological capital, and grit should start with God as the creator. If people learn to develop grit and resilient traits, then they can develop psychological resiliency and learn from experience. These same people must also learn from the scripture and understand that just like faith, grit, psychological capital, and resilience takes time.

A relationship with God is lifelong and never ends. Even when we are in heaven, we are with God in the holy place. It takes perseverance and an extraordinary ability to cope with the life we are given. The second we seek salvation, a relationship with God starts and never ends as long as people seek him. What we are driven by can change our path at any one given time. By not giving up, we can reach both destinations of heaven and our aspirations without letting the negative challenges consume us.

## **Implications**

This study found associations between grit, resilience, psychological capital, and burnout in direct care staff, providing a foundation for future research. Agencies should have awareness training and workshops on burnout, resilience, grit, or psychological capital, which could make a significant difference in the work and lives of the individual people. These trainings could include workshops that provide counseling to staff, teaching mindfulness, teaching how to use coping skills and manage stress levels, and helping awareness within staff. Trainings should also educate employees that feeling burnout is normal and create a sense of normalcy within the staff, so they don't feel targeted or stigmatized. Trainings should define burnout and teach staff members positive ways to overcome these challenges. Providing employees with the tools to be successful and giving them resources and flexibility to help them work through their negative emotional state could help them achieve a work life balance. Special trainings should be offered to supervisors, so they can better assist their employees when they are struggling, and they can make changes to help.

Compensation and benefits should also be further assessed as it pertains to direct care staff and all that these occupations encompass. Direct care staff have many duties,

and they are responsible for so many different things that involve direct or indirect care of other people and special populations that need a certain level of care. Employers should seek help for their employees by offering incentives such as assistance programs or accommodating them more. For example, employers could seek out assistance to help their employees with a life coach, help those that are parents, and help employees with time management skills. Employers could offer monetary benefits and environments of higher quality for both staff and the populations they serve. Employers could seek to obtain the needs of their employees by asking employees through surveys, evaluations, or at random how they can help them achieve a work life balance, which may lead to greater retention and job satisfaction. Employees would be able to state what their needs are and the employers should try to accommodate as much as possible due to the challenging needs of the job duties. This can help lower burnout rates and promote grit, resilience, and psychological capital. Finally, agencies could foster resilience, grit, and PsyCap in their employees by educating them on what these constructs are and facilitating ways for them to be successful. Agencies could seek other avenues that help with high caseloads, hours, and shift schedules.

This research further supports what is already known about the topics of resilience, grit, and burnout. It further explained these relationships in a sample of direct care staff that has been previously overlooked in the literature. This research further supports that burnout should be examined through a different perspective. Burnout should be examined and assessed seriously. Employers need to examine burnout as a diagnosis that can lead to serious complications for both staff and their served populations. Both literature and this research suggest that more research on the topic needs to be done so

that employees receive the help they may need. Research should further examine these variables by conducting in-person studies, qualitative studies of these variables, and studies amongst the different agency types. Burnout can lead to major mental and physical health challenges in a person. This research also bridged a gap from Covid-19 until now. We now know more about the relationships these variables share. This research also contributes to the literature by creating new measures, such as the Grit N-14 and Burnout 30 scales, that can be further validated and used by the scientific community.

### Limitations

This current study has limitations and assumptions. The current study used Surveymonkey, which is an online platform. The study had a total of 238 respondents and only 195 were able to participate. There were surveys that were omitted by the researcher because the participants' occupations did not match eligibility criteria or because the surveys were incomplete. Because participants answered questions independently and online, the research outcome could have been influenced by social desirability and not answering truthfully, which not only affects the results, but external validity and internal validity. Additionally, online platforms do not elicit the same reactions as face-to-face studies because there is a barrier between the researcher and the participant. This may also have led to social desirability and false answers. Using online platforms also takes away the connection between researcher and participant. Participants could rush and click through the survey without the researcher asking questions or the participants seeing other people in the study with them. Because of this, different results may be obtained compared to an in-person study. Finally, two of the measures used in the study are

researcher created (the Grit N-14 and the Burnout -30), so there is no previous research data available to confirm these measures correctly assess the intended constructs, other than the pilot sample study. This could cause a potential risk in the outcomes of the study and a type I or type II error.

Another threat derives from assumptions. The entire survey was administered via an online database; therefore, the researcher had to assume that the participants were able to successfully read and understand the questions being asked. The researcher also had to assume that the participants had the knowledge and ability to use the technology and had the insight needed to complete the study. The researcher also did not administer the surveys all over the world, as it was limited to just the United States. This could influence external validity and how results relate to other people, places, and time.

### **Recommendations for Future Research**

There are several future recommendations based on the findings of this research. Future research should examine direct care workers in agency-specific locations that have staff shortages, low retention rates, and high burnout rates. Future research should also examine direct care staff and build on this research utilizing the newly created scales (i.e., Grit N-14 and Burnout – 30) for purposes of validity. In addition, future research should seek to implement programs for those agencies or locations found to have high rates of burnout and attrition. While implementing programs, longitudinal studies should be done to see the effects and rates of retention. While doing all this, all agencies should establish trainings on resilience, grit, and burnout. These trainings should include group counseling and resources for those struggling within the domain of burnout and include coursework on educating people on what it takes to develop resilience, grit, and psychological capital.

Research should further examine these variables through in person studies, qualitative studies of these variables, and doing in person studies amongst the different agency types. This research study did not find a relationship between grit, resilience, psychological capital, and burnout as it relates to occupation, gender, agency type, and education. This does not mean that a relationship does not exist if a different study type was to be redone.

If trainings or programs are implemented within the work locations of direct care staff, burnout rates might decrease. People could live better, richer, and more fulfilled lives. Staff shortages might decrease, mental health within workers might increase, and organizational success could potentially increase. People want and need to feel like they matter. Holding these seminars with incentives and giving employees the resources to be successful could be the catalyst for change.

As previously stated, future research could examine religious and spiritual views alongside the variables of grit, resilience, psychological capital, and the subscales of psychological capital to see if more relationships exist. This topic should also be further examined using the newly created measures to see if there are more relationships between the variables. Research suggests that resilience and grit share a relationship with faith, religion, and spirituality. Therefore, the frameworks within this research could be largely expanded by adding in additional variables of religion, faith, and spirituality to further support literature and build upon it.

### **Summary**

The current study examined if there were significant relationships between resilience, grit, psychological capital, and burnout in direct care staff. The current study did find relationships amongst these variables. Specifically, resilience, grit, and

psychological capital were all positively related, whereas burnout was negatively related to each of these constructs. This study also found relationships between age and resilience, and years of service and hope. All of these variables influence direct care workers and are related to mental health functioning by definition of terms.

The researcher of the current study developed two new scales that other researchers will be able to use. The current study also examined direct care workers from a different perspective by assessing direct care careers that have been overlooked by past literature. The direct care field is composed of so many different occupations that more should be explored.

The current research was composed to be a catalyst for change within the direct care field and to change the lives of not only workers, but the populations that are cared for by these workers. If agencies and the work environment can be improved, then the lives of the staff and demographic populations served could also be enhanced. Direct care workers are facing high rates of burnout, and trainings programs, or education could make a difference for the mental and physical health of these types of employees.

### References

- Abdullah, A. A., & Wan, H. L. (2013). Relationships of non-monetary incentives, job satisfaction and employee job performance. *International Review of Management and Business Research*, 2(4), 1085.
- Abuhashesh, M., Al-Dmour, R., & Masa'deh, R. E. (2019). Factors that affect employees job satisfaction and performance to increase customers' satisfactions. *Journal of Human Resources Management Research*, 2019, 1-23.
- Al Eid, N. A., Alqahtani, M. M. J., Marwa, K., Arnout, B. A., Alswailem, H. S., & Al Toaimi, A. A. (2020). Religiosity, psychological resilience, and mental health among breast cancer patients in the kingdom of Saudi Arabia. *Breast Cancer:*Basic and Clinical Research, 14. https://doi.org/10.1177/1178223420903054
- Ali, B. J., & Anwar, G. (2021). An empirical study of employees' motivation and its influence job satisfaction. *International Journal of Engineering, Business and Management*, 5(2), 21-30.
- Alkandi, I. G., Khan, M. A., Fallatah, M., Alabdulhadi, A., Alanizan, S., & Alharbi, J.
  (2023). The impact of incentive and reward systems on employee performance in the Saudi primary, secondary, and tertiary industrial sectors: A mediating influence of employee job satisfaction. *Sustainability*, 15(4), 3415.
- ALmutairi, M. N., & EL. Mahalli, A. A. (2020). Burnout and coping methods among emergency medical services professionals. *Journal of Multidisciplinary*Healthcare, 13, 271-279. https://doi.org/10.2147/jmdh.s244303
- Al Sabei, S. D., Labrague, L. J., Miner Ross, A., Karkada, S., Albashayreh, A., Al Masroori, F., & Al Hashmi, N. (2020). Nursing work environment, turnover

- intention, job burnout, and quality of care: The moderating role of job satisfaction. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, *52*(1), 95-104.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2022). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental Disorders*. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.books.9780890425787
- Anastasiou, S., & Anagnostou, L. (2020). Variability in indices of economic hardship and burnout components of primary school teachers in Greece. *IBIMA Business*Review, 2020, Article ID 303976, DOI: 10.5171/2020.303976
- Antonsdottir, I., Rushton, C. H., Nelson, K. E., Heinze, K. E., Swoboda, S. M., & Hanson, G. C. (2022). Burnout and moral resilience in interdisciplinary healthcare professionals. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 31, 196 208. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.15896
- Bamonti, P., Conti, E., Cavanagh, C., Gerolimatos, L., Gregg, J., Goulet, C., Pifer, M., & Edelstein, B. (2019). Coping, cognitive emotion regulation, and burnout in long-term care nursing staff: A preliminary study. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, 38(1), 92-111. https://doi.org/10.1177/0733464817716970
- Baron, R. A., Franklin, R. J., & Hmieleski, K. M. (2016). Why entrepreneurs often experience low, not high, levels of stress: The joint effects of selection and psychological capital. *Journal Of Management*, 42(3), 742-768.
- Bartlett, J. D., & Steber, K. (2019). How to implement trauma-informed care to build resilience to childhood trauma. *Trauma*, 9(10).
- Bayat, M. (2019). Addressing challenging behaviors and mental health issues in early childhood. Routledge.

- Bengtson, V. L., Silverstein, M., Putney, N. M., & Harris, S. C. (2015). Does religiousness increase with age? Age changes and generational differences over 35 years. *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, *54*(2), 363-379.
- Bennett, C. R., Frankowski, A. C., Rubinstein, R. L., Peeples, A. D., Perez, R., Nemec, M., & Tucker, G. G. (2017). Visitors and resident autonomy: Spoken and unspoken rules in assisted living. *The Gerontologist*, *57*, 252-260.
- Bhardwaj, A., Mishra, S., & Jain, T. K. (2021). An analysis to understanding the job satisfaction of employees in banking industry. *Materials Today: Proceedings*, *37*, 170-174.
- Bluth, K., Mullarkey, M., & Lathren, C. (2018). Self-compassion: A potential path to adolescent resilience and positive exploration. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 27, 3037-3047.
- Boamah, D. A. (2020). Risks of indirect trauma among direct support professionals who work with adults with intellectual/developmental disabilities: Impact on organizational, staff and client outcomes.
- Boone, E. (2021). *Job satisfaction and retention among direct care workers in times of COVID-19* (Doctoral dissertation, Walden University).
- Bowblis, J. R. (2011). Staffing ratios and quality: An analysis of minimum direct care staffing requirements for nursing homes. *Health Services Research*, 46(5), 1495-1516.
- Brelsford, G. M., & Ciarrocchi, J. (2013). Spiritual disclosure and ego resiliency: validating spiritual competencies. *Counseling & Values*, *58*(2), 130–141. https://ez.sjcny.edu:2144/10.1002/j.2161-007X.2013.00029.x

- Brossoit, R. M., Crain, T. L., Hammer, L. B., Lee, S., Bodner, T. E., & Buxton, O. M. (2020). Associations among patient care workers' schedule control, sleep, job satisfaction and turnover intentions. *Stress and Health*, *36*(4), 442-456.
- CDC Covid Response Team, C., Burrer, S. L., de Perio, M. A., Hughes, M. M., Kuhar, D. T., Luckhaupt, S. E., McDaniel, C. J., Porter, R. M., Silk, B., Stuckey, M. J., & Walters, M. (2020). Characteristics of health care personnel with COVID-19 United States, February 12-April 9, 2020. MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 69(15), 477-481. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6915e6
- Chapin, L. (2015). Mexican American boys' positive outcomes and resilience:

  Importance of social support and individual attributes. *Journal of Child & Family Studies*, 24(6), 1791–1799. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-014-9982-8
- Choi, K. W., Stein, M. B., Dunn, E. C., Koenen, K. C., & Smoller, J. W. (2019).

  Genomics and psychological resilience: a research agenda. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 24(12), 1770-1778.
- Cid, D. T., Martins, M. D. C. F., Dias, M., & Fidelis, A. C. F. (2020). Psychological Capital Questionnaire (PCQ-24): Preliminary evidence of psychometric validity of the Brazilian version. *Psico-USF*, *25*, 63-74.
- Clark, R. S., & Plano Clark, V. L. (2019). Grit within the context of career success: a mixed methods study. *International Journal of Applied Positive Psychology*, 4(3), 91-111. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41042-019-00020-9
- Crane, M. F., Searle, B. J., Kangas, M., & Nwiran, Y. (2019). How resilience is strengthened by exposure to stressors: The systematic self-reflection model of resilience strengthening. *Anxiety, Stress, & Coping*, 32(1), 1-17.

- Cui, C. Y., Wang, Y., Zhang, Y., Chen, S., Jiang, N., & Wang, L. (2021). The development and validation of the psychological capital questionnaire for patients with Cancer the psychological capital questionnaire. *BMC Cancer*, 21(1), 1-8.
- Dall'Ora, C., Ball, J., Reinius, M., & Griffiths, P. (2020). Burnout in nursing: a theoretical review. *Human Resources for Health*, 18, 1-17.
- De La Cruz, M., Zarate, A., Zamarripa, J., Castillo, I., Borbon, A., Duarte, H., & Valenzuela, K. (2021). Grit, self-efficacy, motivation, and the readiness to change index toward exercise in the adult population. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*, 732325.
- Denckla, C. A., Cicchetti, D., Kubzansky, L. D., Seedat, S., Teicher, M. H., Williams, D. R., & Koenen, K. C. (2020). Psychological resilience: an update on definitions, a critical appraisal, and research recommendations. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, 11(1), 1822064.
- Di Giuseppe, M., Nepa, G., Prout, T. A., Albertini, F., Marcelli, S., Orrù, G., & Conversano, C. (2021). Stress, burnout, and resilience among healthcare workers during the COVID-19 emergency: The role of defense mechanisms. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(10), 5258.
- Dogru, T., McGinley, S., Sharma, A., Isık, C., & Hanks, L. (2023). Employee turnover dynamics in the hospitality industry vs. the overall economy. *Tourism Management*, 99, 104783.
- Dooley, L. N., Slavich, G. M., Moreno, P. I., & Bower, J. E. (2017). Strength through adversity: Moderate lifetime stress exposure is associated with psychological resilience in breast cancer survivors. *Stress and Health*, *33*(5), 549-557.

- Duckworth, A. L., Peterson, C., Matthews, M. D., & Kelly, D. R. (2007). Grit: perseverance and passion for long-term goals. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 92(6), 1087.
- Edú-Valsania, S., Laguía, A., & Moriano, J. A. (2022). Burnout: A review of theory and measurement. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(3), 1780.perspectives.
- Embriaco, N., Papazian, L., Kentish-Barnes, N., Pochard, F., & Azoulay, E. (2007).

  Burnout syndrome among critical care healthcare workers. *Current Opinion in Critical Care*, 13(5), 482-488.
- Fargen, K. M., Arthur, A. S., Leslie-Mazwi, T., Garner, R. M., Aschenbrenner, C. A., Wolfe, S. Q., Ansari, S. A., Dabus, G., Spiotta, A., Mokin, M., Linfante, I., Mocco, J., & Hirsch, J. A. (2019). A survey of burnout and professional satisfaction among United States neurointerventionalists. *Journal of NeuroInterventional Surgery*, 11(11), 1100-1104.
  https://doi.org/10.1136/neurintsurg-2019-014833
- Feldman, R. (2020). What is resilience: an affiliative neuroscience approach. *World* psychiatry, 19(2), 132-150
- Flinkman, M., Rudman, A., Pasanen, M., & Leino-Kilpi, H. (2023). Psychological capital, grit and organizational justice as positive strengths and resources among registered nurses: A path analysis. *Nursing Open*, 00, 1-14, https://doi.org/10.1002/nop2.1769
- Franck, E., Goossens, E., Haegdorens, F., Geuens, N., Portzky, M., Tytens, T., Dilles, T., Beeckman, K., Timmermans, O., Slootmans, S., Van Rompaey, B., & Van

- Bogaert, P. (2022). Role of resilience in healthcare workers' distress and somatization during the COVID-19 pandemic: A cross-sectional study across Flanders, Belgium. *Nursing Open, 9*(2), 1181-1189. https://doi.org/10.1002/nop2.1159
- Fritz, J., Stochl, J., Fried, E. I., Goodyer, I. M., Borkulo, C. D., Wilkinson, P. O., & Harmelen, A.-L. (2019). Unraveling the complex nature of resilience factors and their changes between early and later adolescence. *Bmc Medicine*, *17*(1), 1–16.
- Galanis, P., Vraka, I., Fragkou, D., Bilali, A., & Kaitelidou, D. (2021). Nurses' burnout and associated risk factors during the COVID-19 pandemic: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 77(8), 3286-3302.
- Ghaffar, A. (2020). The impact of the financial cost of caring for greying on emotional exhaustion in the workplace: the mediating role of stress. *Is Ahlakı Dergisi*, 13(1), 31-51.
- Gladden, J. (2012). The coping skills of East African refugees: A literature review. *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, *31*(3), 177-196.
- Golembiewski, R. T., Munzenrider, R., & Carter, D. (1983). Phases of progressive burnout and their work site covariants: Critical issues in OD research and praxis. *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, 19(4), 461-481.
- Gong, Z., Chen, Y., & Wang, Y. (2019). The influence of emotional intelligence on job burnout and job performance: Mediating effect of psychological capital. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10, 2707. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-019-1430-6

- Grover, S. L., Teo, S. T., Pick, D., Roche, M., & Newton, C. J. (2018). Psychological capital as a personal resource in the JD-R model. *Personnel Review*, 47(4), 968-984.
- Guimarães, R. M. (2018). Resilience. *The Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging, 22*(10), 1146-1147. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12603-018-1093-6
- Gupta, N., Dhamija, S., Patil, J., & Chaudhari, B. (2021). Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on healthcare workers. *Industrial Psychiatry Journal*, *30*(Suppl 1), S282.
- Hajiali, I., Kessi, A. M. F., Budiandriani, B., Prihatin, E., & Sufri, M. M. (2022).
   Determination of work motivation, leadership style, employee competence on job satisfaction and employee performance. *Golden Ratio of Human Resource Management*, 2(1), 57-69.
- Hamidi, M. S., Bohman, B., Sandborg, C., Smith-Coggins, R., de Vries, P., Albert, M. S.,
  Murphy, M. L., Welle, D., & Trockel, M. T. (2018). Estimating institutional physician turnover attributable to self-reported burnout and associated financial burden: a case study. *BMC Health Services Research*, 18(1).
  https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3663-z
- Heinze, K. E., Hanson, G., Holtz, H., Swoboda, S. M., & Rushton, C. H. (2021).

  Measuring health care interprofessionals' moral resilience: validation of the rushton moral resilience scale. *Journal of Palliative Medicine*, 24(6), 865-872.
- Hewitt, A., & Larson, S. (2007). The direct support workforce in community supports to individuals with developmental disabilities: Issues, implications, and promising practices. *Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Research*\*Reviews, 13(2), 178-187.

- HR, G., & Aithal, P. S. (2020). Sales personnel attrition control and retention—an integrated framework for lifestyle retailers in India (RSPR-LS). *International Journal of Applied Engineering and Management Letters (IJAEML)*, 4(2), 78-95.
- Hubert, S., & Aujoulat, I. (2018). Parental burnout: When exhausted mothers open up. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *9*, 1021.
- Iwasaki, Y. (2002). Exploring leisure coping processes: Roles of leisure activities and psychosocial functions of leisure coping. *Annals of Leisure Research*, 5(1), 27-50.
- Johnson, J., Simms-Ellis, R., Janes, G., Mills, T., Budworth, L., Atkinson, L., &
   Harrison, R. (2020). Can we prepare healthcare professionals and students for involvement in stressful healthcare events? A mixed-methods evaluation of a resilience training intervention. *Bmc Health Services Research*, 20(1).
- Kelly, C., Craft Morgan, J., Kemp, C. L., & Deichert, J. (2020). A Profile of the assisted living direct care workforce in the United States. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*: The Official Journal of the Southern Gerontological Society, 39(1), 16–27.
  https://doi.org/10.1177/0733464818757000
- Kelly, M., Soles, R., Garcia, E., & Kundu, I. (2020). Job stress, burnout, work-life balance, well-being, and job satisfaction among pathology residents and fellows. *American Journal of Clinical Pathology*, 153(4), 449-469.
- Khalid, K., & Nawab, S. (2018). Employee participation and employee retention in view of compensation. *Sage Open*, 8(4), 2158244018810067.
- Khanlou, N., & Wray, R. (2014). A Whole community approach toward child and youth resilience promotion: A review of resilience literature. *International Journal of*

- *Mental Health & Addiction*, *12*(1), 64–79. doi:http://ez.sjcny.edu:2081/10.1007/s10212-013-0193-2
- Kim, H., Wildeman, C., Jonson-Reid, M., & Drake, B. (2017). Lifetime prevalence of investigating child maltreatment among us children. *American Journal of Public Health*, 107(2), 274-280. Doi:10.2105/AJPH.2016.303545
- Kim, J. (2020). Occupational credentials and job qualities of direct care workers: implications for labor shortages. *Journal of Labor Research*, 41(4), 403-420.
- Klaver, M., Van den Hoofdakker, B. J., Wouters, H., De Kuijper, G., Hoekstra, P. J., & De Bildt, A. (2021). Exposure to challenging behaviors and burnout symptoms among care staff: the role of psychological resources. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 65(2), 173-185.
- Knotter, M. H., Spruit, A., De Swart, J. J., Wissink, I. B., Moonen, X. M., & Stams, G. J.
  (2018). Training direct care staff working with persons with intellectual disabilities and challenging behaviour: A meta-analytic review study. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 40, 60-72.
- Koni, E., Moradi, S., Arahanga-Doyle, H., Neha, T., Hayhurst, J. G., Boyes, M., Cruwys, T., Hunter, J. A., & Scarf, D. (2019). Promoting resilience in adolescents: A new social identity benefits those who need it most. *PLOS ONE*, *14*(1), e0210521. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0210521
- Koo, B., Yu, J., Chua, B. L., Lee, S., & Han, H. (2020). Relationships among emotional and material rewards, job satisfaction, burnout, affective commitment, job performance, and turnover intention in the hotel industry. *Journal of Quality Assurance in Hospitality & Tourism*, 21(4), 371-401.

- Koutsimani, P., Montgomery, A., & Georganta, K. (2019). The relationship between burnout, depression, and anxiety: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 284.
- Kristensen, T. S., Borritz, M., Villadsen, E., & Christensen, K. B. (2005). The

  Copenhagen Burnout Inventory: A new tool for the assessment of burnout. *Work*& Stress, 19(3), 192-207.
- Kun, A., & Gadanecz, P. (2019). Workplace happiness, well-being, and their relationship with psychological capital: A study of Hungarian Teachers. *Current Psychology*, 1-15.
- Kunzler, A. M., Helmreich, I., Chmitorz, A., Koenig, J., Binder, H., Wessa, M., & Lieb,K. (2020). Psychological interventions to foster resilience in healthcareprofessionals. *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 2020(7).
- Laker, C., Cella, M., Callard, F., & Wykes, T. (2019). Why is change a challenge in acute mental health wards? A cross-sectional investigation of the relationships between burnout, occupational status and nurses' perceptions of barriers to change. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 28(1), 190-198.
- Lee, D. H., Reasoner, K., Lee, D., Davidson, C., Pennings, J. S., Blazar, P. E., Frick, S.
  L., Kelly, A. M., LaPorte, D. M., Lese, A. B., Mercer, D. M., Ring, D., Salazar,
  D. H., Scharschmidt, T. J., Snoddy, M. C., Strauch, R. J., Tuohy, C. J., &
  Wongworawat, M. D. (2021). Is grit associated with burnout and well-being in orthopaedic resident and faculty physicians? A Multi-institution longitudinal study across training levels. *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related*

- Research, 479(12), 2576–2586. https://doi.org/10.1097/CORR.000000000001987
- Leiter, M. P., & Schaufeli, W. B. (1996). Consistency of the burnout construct across occupations. *Anxiety, Stress, and Coping*, 9(3), 229-243.
- Leung, D. Y., Chan, A. C., & Ho, G. W. (2022). Resilience of emerging adults after adverse childhood experiences: A qualitative systematic review. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse*, 23(1), 163-181.
- Lin, Y. K., Lin, C. D., Lin, B. Y. J., & Chen, D. Y. (2019). Medical students' resilience: a protective role on stress and quality of life in clerkship. *BMC Medical Education*, 19(1), 1-9.
- Loan, L. T. M. (2020). The influence of organizational commitment on employees' job performance: The mediating role of job satisfaction. *Management Science Letters*, 3308-3312. https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2020.6.007
- Lowell, A., Renk, K., & Adgate, A. H. (2014). The role of attachment in the relationship between child maltreatment and later emotional and behavioral functioning. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 38(9), 1436-1449.
- Lu, H., Zhao, Y., & While, A. (2019). Job satisfaction among hospital nurses: A literature review. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 94, 21-31. *Abuse* & *Neglect*, 38(9), 1436-1436. Doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2014.02.006
- Luibl, L., Traversari, J., Paulsen, F., Scholz, M., & Burger, P. (2021). Resilience and sense of coherence in first-year medical students a cross-sectional study. *BMC Medical Education*, *21*, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-021-02571-5

- Luning, C. R., & Ledford, A. (2020). The necessity of grit and hardiness in leading with character. *Journal of Character and Leadership Development*, 7(1).
- Luthans, F. (2002a). The need for and meaning of positive organizational behavior.

  \*\*Journal of Organizational Behavior, 23(6), 695-706.\*\*

  https://doi.org/10.1002/job.165
- Luthans, F. (2002b). Positive organizational behavior: Developing and managing psychological strengths. *Academy of Management Perspectives*, *16*(1), 57-72. https://doi.org/10.5465/ame.2002.6640181
- Luthans, F., Avolio, B. J., & Youseff, C. (2007). Psychological capital. *Developing the Human Capital Edge*. Oxford, England: Oxford University Press.
- Luthans, F., & Broad, J. D. (2022). Positive psychological capital to help combat the mental health fallout from the pandemic and VUCA environment. *Organizational Dynamics*, 51(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orgdyn.2020.100817
- Luthans, F. L., Avolio, B. J., & Avey, J. B. (2007). *Published by Mind Garden, Inc.*Copyright © All rights reserved in all media., *www.mindgarden.com*
- Luthar, S. S., Kumar, N. L., & Benoit, R. (2019). Toward fostering resilience on a large scale: Connecting communities of caregivers. *Development and Psychopathology*, 31(5), 1813-1825.
- Martínez-López, J. Á., Lázaro-Pérez, C., & Gómez-Galán, J. (2021). Burnout among direct-Care Workers in Nursing Homes during the COVID-19 pandemic in Spain:

  A preventive and educational focus for sustainable workplaces. *Sustainability*, 13(5), 2782.

- Maslach, C. (1998). A multidimensional theory of burnout. *Theories of Organizational Stress*, 68(85), 16.
- Masten, A. S., & Monn, A. R. (2015). Child and family resilience: A call for integrated science, practice, and professional training. *Family Relations*, *64*(1), 5-21. http://doi.ez.sjcny.edu:2081/10.1111/fare.12103
- Mathad, M. D., Rajesh, S. K., & Pradhan, B. (2019). Spiritual well-being and its relationship with mindfulness, self-compassion, and satisfaction with life in baccalaureate nursing students: a correlation study. *Journal of Religion and Health*, *58*(2), 554–565. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10943-017-0532-8
- McRae, K., & Gross, J. J. (2020). Emotion regulation. *Emotion*, 20(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0000703
- Menne, H. L., Ejaz, F. K., Noelker, L. S., & Jones, J. A. (2007). Direct care workers' recommendations for training and continuing education. *Gerontology & Geriatrics Education*, 28(2), 91-108.
- Meyer, G., Shatto, B., Kuljeerung, O., Nuccio, L., Bergen, A., & Wilson, C. R. (2020). Exploring the relationship between resilience and grit among nursing students: a correlational research study. *Nurse Education Today*, 84, 104246.
- Mikolajczak, M., Gross, J. J., Stinglhamber, F., Lindahl Norberg, A., & Roskam, I. (2020). Is parental burnout distinct from job burnout and depressive symptoms. *Clinical Psychological Science*, 8(4), 673-689.
- Montas, M., Rao, S. R., Atassi, H. A., Shapiro, M. C., Dean, J., & Salama, A. R. (2021).

  Relationship of grit and resilience to dental students' academic success. *Journal of Dental Education*, 85(2), 176-186

- Montgomery, A. P., Azuero, A., & Patrician, P. A. (2021). Psychometric properties of Copenhagen Burnout Inventory among nurses. *Research in Nursing & Health*, 44(2), 308-318.
- Narayan, V., John-Stewart, G., Gage, G., & O'Malley, G. (2018). "If I had known, I would have applied": Poor communication, job dissatisfaction, and attrition of rural health workers in Sierra Leone. *Human Resources for Health*, 16(1), 1-11.
- New American Standard Bible. (1977). New American Standard Bible. Thomas Nelson.
- Newcomb, M., Burton, J., & Edwards, N. (2019). Student constructions of resilience: Understanding the role of childhood adversity. *Australian Social Work*, 72(2), 166-178.
- Paul, J. A. L., & Fonceca, C. M. (2022). Attrition and retention practices in healthcare sector: perception of staff nurses during Covid-19 pandemic. *Journal of Academia and Industrial Research (JAIR)*, 11(1), 11-15.
- Pérez-Rojo, G., López, J., Noriega, C., & Velasco, C. (2023). Resilience among direct care staff in nursing homes: validation of the CD-RISC2. *Clinical Gerontologist*, 1-11.
- Phillips, K., Knowlton, M., & Riseden, J. (2022). Emergency department nursing burnout and resilience. *Advanced Emergency Nursing Journal*, 44(1), 54-62.
- Poon, Y. S. R., Lin, Y. P., Griffiths, P., Yong, K. K., Seah, B., & Liaw, S. Y. (2022). A global overview of healthcare workers' turnover intention amid COVID-19 pandemic: A systematic review with future directions. *Human Resources for Health*, 20(1), 1-18.

- Pusparani, M., Amin, S., & Ali, H. (2021). The effect of work environment and job satisfaction on employee performance with organizational commitment as an intervening variable at the department of population control and family planning Sarolangun Regency. *Dinasti International Journal of Management Science*, 3(2), 202-219.
- Quek, S. J., Thomson, L., Houghton, R., Bramley, L., Davis, S., & Cooper, J. (2021).

  Distributed leadership as a predictor of employee engagement, job satisfaction and turnover intention in UK nursing staff. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 29(6), 1544-1553.
- Rajamohan, S., Porock, D., & Chang, Y. P. (2019). Understanding the relationship between staff and job satisfaction, stress, turnover, and staff outcomes in the person-centered care nursing home arena. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 51(5), 560-568.
- Rasdi, R. M., Zaremohzzabieh, Z., & Ahrari, S. (2021). Financial insecurity During the COVID-19 pandemic: Spillover effects on burnout–disengagement relationships and performance of employees who moonlight. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12, 610138.
- Razak, A., Sarpan, S., & Ramlan, R. (2018). Influence of promotion and job satisfaction on employee performance. *Journal of Accounting, Business and Finance Research*, *3*(1), 18-27.
- Rinny, P., Purba, C. B., & Handiman, U. T. (2020). The influence of compensation, job promotion, and job satisfaction on employee performance of Mercubuana

- University. International Journal of Business Marketing and Management (IJBMM), 5(2), 39-48.
- Riyanto, S., Endri, E., & Herlisha, N. (2021). Effect of work motivation and job satisfaction on employee performance: Mediating role of employee engagement. *Problems and Perspectives in Management*, 19(3), 162.
- Rolfe, S. A. (2020). Rethinking attachment for early childhood practice: Promoting security, autonomy and resilience in young children. Routledge.
- Royce, T. J., Davenport, K. T., & Dahle, J. M. (2019). A burnout reduction and wellness strategy: personal financial health for the medical trainee and early career radiation oncologist. *Practical Radiation Oncology*, *9*(4), 231-238.
- Rozkwitalska, M., Basinska, B. A., Okumus, F., & Karatepe, O. M. (2022). The effects of relational and psychological capital on work engagement: The mediation of learning goal orientation. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 35(3), 616-629.
- Ryan, C., Bergin, M., & Wells, J. S. (2021). Work-related stress and well-being of direct care workers in intellectual disability services: A scoping review of the literature.

  International Journal of Developmental Disabilities, 67(1), 1-22.
- Salanova, M., & Ortega-Maldonado, A. (2019). Psychological capital development in organizations: An integrative review of evidence-based intervention programs.

  \*Positive Psychological Intervention Design and Protocols for Multi-Cultural Contexts, 81-102.
- Sattler, K., & Font, S. (2018). Resilience in young children involved with child protective services. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 75, 104-104.=28722.

- Scales, K. (2021). It is time to resolve the direct care workforce crisis in long-term care.

  The Gerontologist, 61(4), 497-504.
- Schaufeli, W. (2021). The burnout enigma solved. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health*, 47(3), 169–170. https://doi.org/10.5271/sjweh.3950
- Schug, C., Geiser, F., Hiebel, N., Beschoner, P., Jerg-Bretzke, L., Albus, C., Weidner, K., Morawa, E., & Erim, Y. (2022). Sick leave and intention to quit the job among nursing staff in German hospitals during the COVID-19 Pandemic. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(4), 1947. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19041947
- Schweitzer, R., Greenslade, J., & Kagee, A. (2007). Coping and resilience in refugees from the Sudan: a narrative account. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 41(3), 282-288.
- Shanafelt, T. D., Boone, S., Tan, L., Dyrbye, L. N., Sotile, W., Satele, D., West, C. P., Sloan, J., & Oreskovich, M. R. (2012). Burnout and satisfaction with work-life balance among US physicians relative to the general US population. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 172(18), 1377.
  https://doi.org/10.1001/archinternmed.2012.3199
- Shinto, T., Bose, A., & Aswathi, T. (2019). Happiness, meaning, and satisfaction in life as perceived by Indian university students and their association with spirituality.

  \*\*Journal of Religion and Health, 1-17, 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10943-019-00806-w

- Sigmundsson, H., Haga, M., & Hermundsdottir, F. (2020). Passion, grit and mindset in young adults: Exploring the relationship and gender differences. *New Ideas in Psychology*, *59*, 100795.
- Sisto, A., Vicinanza, F., Campanozzi, L. L., Ricci, G., Tartaglini, D., & Tambone, V. (2019). Towards a transversal definition of psychological resilience: A literature review. *Medicina*, 55(11), 745.
- Slavich, G. M., Roos, L. G., & Zaki, J. (2022). Social belonging, compassion, and kindness: Key ingredients for fostering resilience, recovery, and growth from the COVID-19 pandemic. *Anxiety, Stress, & Coping*, 35(1), 1-8.
- Snyder, I. (2000). Literacy and technology studies: past, present, future. *The Australian Educational Researcher*, *27*(2), 97-119.
- Spetz, J., Stone, R. I., Chapman, S. A., & Bryant, N. (2019). Home and community-based workforce for patients with serious illness requires support to meet growing needs. *Health Affairs*, *38*(6), 902-909.
- Stepp, S. D., Pardini, D. A., Loeber, R., & Morris, N. A. (2011). The relation between adolescent social competence and young adult delinquency and educational attainment among at-risk youth: The mediating role of peer delinquency. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 56(8), 457-465.
- Suttikun, C., Chang, H. J., & Bicksler, H. (2018). A qualitative exploration of day spa therapists' work motivations and job satisfaction. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management*, 34, 1-10.
- Szwedo, D. E., Hessel, E. T., & Allen, J. P. (2017). Supportive romantic relationships as predictors of resilience against early adolescent maternal negativity. *Journal of*

- Youth and Adolescence, 46(2), 454-465.

  Doi:http://ez.sjcny.edu:2081/10.1007/s10964-016-0507-1
- Taheri, R. H., Miah, M. S., & Kamaruzzaman, M. (2020). Impact of working environment on job satisfaction. *European Journal of Business and Management Research*, 5(6).
- Tang, X., Wang, M. T., Guo, J., & Salmela-Aro, K. (2019). Building grit: The longitudinal pathways between mindset, commitment, grit, and academic outcomes. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 48, 850-863.
- Tawfik, D. S., Scheid, A., Profit, J., Shanafelt, T., Trockel, M., Adair, K. C., Sexton, J.
  B., & Ioannidis, J. P. A. (2019). Evidence relating health care provider burnout and quality of care: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 171(8), 555. https://doi.org/10.7326/m19-1152
- Terry, D., Peck, B., & Biangone, M. (2023). Changes in grit and psychological capital at the time of major crisis: nursing students' perseverance, resources, and resilience.

  International Journal of Nursing Education Scholarship, 20(1), 20220114.
- Tetteh, S., Dei Mensah, R., Opata, C. N., & Mensah, C. N. (2021). Service employees' workplace fun and turnover intention: the influence of psychological capital and work engagement. *Management Research Review*, 45(3), 363-380.
- Tokay Argan, M., & Mersin, S. (2021). Life satisfaction, life quality, and leisure satisfaction in health professionals. *Perspectives in Psychiatric Care*, *57*(2), 660-666.

- Torrès, O., Benzari, A., Fisch, C., Mukerjee, J., Swalhi, A., & Thurik, R. (2022). Risk of burnout in French entrepreneurs during the COVID-19 crisis. *Small Business Economics*, 1-23.
- Traino, K. A., Bakula, D. M., Sharkey, C. M., Roberts, C. M., Ruppe, N. M., Chaney, J. M., & Mullins, L. L. (2019). The role of grit in health care management skills and health-related quality of life in college students with chronic medical conditions.
  Journal of Pediatric Nursing, 46, 72-77.
- Trógolo, M. A., Moretti, L. S., & Medrano, L. A. (2022). A nationwide cross-sectional study of workers' mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic: Impact of changes in working conditions, financial hardships, psychological detachment from work and work-family interface. *BMC Psychology*, 10(1), 73.
- Tugade, M. M., Fredrickson, B. L., & Barrett, L. F. (2004). Psychological resilience and positive emotional granularity: examining the benefits of positive emotions on coping and health. *Journal of Personality*, 72(6), 1161–1190. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2004.00294.x
- Twum-Antwi, A., Jefferies, P., & Ungar, M. (2020). Promoting child and youth resilience by strengthening home and school environments: A literature review.

  International Journal of School & Educational Psychology, 8(2), 78-89.
- Usher, E. L., Li, C. R., Butz, A. R., & Rojas, J. P. (2019). Perseverant grit and self-efficacy: Are both essential for children's academic success. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *111*(5), 877.1190.

  https://ez.sjcny.edu:2144/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2004.00294.x

- Van Wingerden, J., & Poell, R. F. (2019). Meaningful work and resilience among teachers: The mediating role of work engagement and job crafting. *PloS One*, 14(9), e0222518.
- Vella, S. L. C., & Pai, N. B. (2019). A theoretical review of psychological resilience:
  Defining resilience and resilience research over the decades. Archives of Medicine
  and Health Sciences, 7(2), 233-239.
- Verner-Filion, J., Schellenberg, B. J., Holding, A. C., & Koestner, R. (2020). Passion and grit in the pursuit of long-term personal goals in college students. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 83, 101939.
- Wagnild, G. (2009). The Resilience Scale user's guide for the US English version of the Resilience Scale and the 14-Item Resilience Scale (RS-14). The Resilience Center, USA.
- Wagnild, G. M., & Young, H. M. (1993). Development and psychometric evaluation of the Resilience Scale. *Journal of Nursing Measurement*, 1, 165-178.
- Wang, Y., & Yuan, H. (2018). What is behind high turnover: a questionnaire survey of hospital nursing care workers in Shanghai, China. *BMC Health Services*\*Research, 18(1), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-10817-6
- Wehrle, K., & Fasbender, U. (2019). Self-concept. *Encyclopedia of Personality and Individual Differences*, 3-5.
- West, C. P., Dyrbye, L. N., Sinsky, C., Trockel, M., Tutty, M., Nedelec, L., Carlasare, L.
  E., & Shanafelt, T. D. (2020). Resilience and burnout among physicians and the general US working population. *JAMA Network Open*, 3(7), e209385.
  https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.9385

- White, E. M., Aiken, L. H., & McHugh, M. D. (2019). Registered nurse burnout, job dissatisfaction, and missed care in nursing homes. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 67(10), 2065-2071
- White, E. M., Aiken, L. H., Sloane, D. M., & McHugh, M. D. (2020). Nursing home work environment, care quality, registered nurse burnout and job dissatisfaction. *Geriatric Nursing*, 41(2), 158-164.
- Whitfield, K. M., & Wilby, K. J. (2021). Developing grit, motivation, and resilience: To give up on giving in. *Pharmacy*, 9(2), 109. MDPI AG. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/pharmacy9020109
- Wiig, S., Aase, K., Billett, S., Canfield, C., Røise, O., Njå, O., Guise, V., Haraldseid-Driftland, C., Ree, E., Anderson, J. E., Macrae, C., on behalf of the RiH-team, M., Bourrier, M., Berg, S. H., Bergerød, I. J., Schibevaag, L., Øyri, S. F., Sjøseth, S., O'Hara, J., ... Kattouw, C. E. (2020). Defining the boundaries and operational concepts of resilience in the resilience in a healthcare research program. BMC Health Services Research, 20(1), 1–9. https://doiorg.ez.sjcny.edu/10.1186/s12913-020-05224-3
- Wynendaele, H., Willems, R., & Trybou, J. (2019). Systematic review: Association between the patient–nurse ratio and nurse outcomes in acute care hospitals.

  \*\*Journal of Nursing Management, 27(5), 896-917.
- Xiao, L. D., Harrington, A., Mavromaras, K., Ratcliffe, J., Mahuteau, S., Isherwood, L.,
  & Gregoric, C. (2021). Care workers' perspectives of factors affecting a
  sustainable aged care workforce. *International Nursing Review*, 68(1), 49-58.

- Yang, J., Millman, L. M., David, A. S., & Hunter, E. C. (2023). The prevalence of depersonalization-derealization disorder: a systematic review. *Journal of Trauma* & *Dissociation*, 24(1), 8-41.
- Yeatts, D. E., Seckin, G., Shen, Y., Thompson, M., Auden, D., & Cready, C. M. (2018).

  Burnout among direct-care workers in nursing homes: Influences of organisational, workplace, interpersonal and personal characteristics. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 27(19-20), 3652-3665.
- Yu, X., Li, D., Tsai, C. H., & Wang, C. (2019). The role of psychological capital in employee creativity. *Career Development International*, 24(5), 420-437.
- Zakaria, W., & Salleh, M. Z. (2016). Determination of the best single imputation algorithm for missing rainfall data treatment. *Journal of Quality Measurement and Analysis JQMA*, 12(1-2), 79-87.
- Zhang, F., Liu, Y., & Wei, T. (2021). Psychological capital and job satisfaction among Chinese residents: A moderated mediation of organizational identification and income level. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*, 719230.
- Zhang, Z. (2016). Missing data imputation: focusing on single imputation. *Annals of Translational Medicine*, 4(1), 9. https://doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2305-5839.2015.12.38
- Zhou, A. Y., Panagioti, M., Esmail, A., Agius, R., Van Tongeren, M., & Bower, P. (2020). Factors associated with burnout and stress in trainee physicians: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Network Open*, *3*(8), e2013761-e2013761.

Zimmerman, S., & Sloane, P. D. (2007). Definition and classification of assisted living. The Gerontologist, 47, 33-49.

# **Appendix A**

#### **Consent Form**

You are being asked to volunteer to participate in a research project to fulfill a dissertation. It is important that you thoroughly read through the following information and ask any related questions you have to understand what you are being asked to do.

#### Investigator:

My name is Nicholas Stoia. I am a Doctoral student at Liberty University fulfilling a dissertation with the Psychology Department. My faculty chair is Dr. Danisha Keating can be reached via email at (dkeating1@liberty.edu) if there are any questions.

## Purpose of the Research

This research is designed to investigate the relationship between grit, resilience, psychological capital, and burnout on direct care staff. This research will also satisfy the dissertation research requirement set forth by Liberty University and aid in my research experience.

#### Procedures

If you volunteer, you will be asked to report your demographic information such as your gender, career, education, and age. There are four measures in this research resilience, burnout, grit, and psychological capital. The entire survey is expected to take approximately 30 minutes.

#### Potential Risk or Discomfort

There are no foreseeable risks or discomfort expected with this research. Findings of this research could be of value in determining how grit, resilience, psychological capital, and burnout influence direct care staff. As a participant, there is no incentive and participation is completely optional. As a participant you will also gain experience with the research process.

## Confidentiality and Data Storage

Your individual responses are completely anonymous and questions that cause discomfort do not have to be answered. I will keep the data collected for 3 years after completion. Access to data will be limited to myself and my committee members.

#### Participation and Withdrawal

You may refuse to participate in this research without penalty as well as withdraw at any time. To withdraw, you can answer no on the consent form and the study will automatically close or you can choose not to proceed by not answering any questions. However, once completed and collected data cannot be withdrawn from the study.

#### **Ethical Review**

The ethics of this research project was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of Liberty University. If you believe there has been an infringement of your rights, you should contact the IRB chairperson.

Participants should keep consent forms for their records.

# Participation Agreement

I have read the information provided and my signature below indicates my voluntary consent to participate in this research. (If you click No for an answer under agreement for consent, then the research survey will automatically close and end).

Participants Signature

# Appendix B

# **Personal Data Sheet**

We are interested in some basic background information to contribute to our research. Please answer each question honestly. All answers are confidential.

Your Age: Please s	select from the	following.			
18 - 21					
22 - 29					
30 - 35					
36-40					
41 - 45					
45 - 49					
51+					
Prefer not to	o Answer				
Your Gender:	Male	Female	_Other	Prefer not to Answer	•
Your Current Occ	cupation: Pleas	se select from	the followin	g.	
Trainer					
Psychologis	st				
Aide					
Direct Su	pport Profession	onal			
Psychiatr	rist				
Counselo	or				
A Profes	ssional Assistar	nt to include (	Psychology,	Social Work, Counselo	r,
or another professi	on).				

	Other (Please Specify) If you prefer not to answer, please write (Prefer not to
Answer)	
Years of	Service: Please select from the following.
1	-5
6	-10
1	1-15
1	6-20
2	1-25
2	6-30
3	1+
P	Prefer not to Answer
Your Hig	ghest Level of Education: Please select from the following.
H	High School
S	some College
A	Associates
B	Bachelor's
	Masters
D	Octorate
P	Post Graduate Work
C	Other
P	Prefer not to Answer
Type of A	Agency:

State	Non-Profit	Private Agency	Home Care	Other
If you prefer no	ot to answer, please	e write (Prefer not to A	nswer)	

# Appendix C

#### **Grit N-14 Scale**

Below is the Grit – N14 Scale. Please ensure that you read the following statements. Under each statement, there are five ratings ranging from 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 5 (Strongly Agree). Circle the number and rating that most closely describes you. For example, if you do not feel any strong relations to the statement, circle 1 indicating (Strongly Disagree). If you strongly feel a relation to the statement, circle 5 indicating (Strongly Agree).

- 1.) I have the ability to overcome obstacles and accomplish what my mind is focused on.
  - 1. Strongly Disagree
  - 2. Disagree
  - 3. Neutral
  - 4. Agree
  - 5. Strongly Agree
- 2.) My mind tends to wander, and I often forget what I was doing.
  - 5. Strongly Disagree
  - 4. Disagree
  - 3. Neutral
  - 2. Agree
  - 1. Strongly Agree
- 3.) My interests and goals change more frequently than I would like.
  - 5. Strongly Disagree
  - 4. Disagree
  - 3. Neutral
  - 2. Agree
  - 1. Strongly Agree
- 4.) Problems and difficulties stop me from achieving what I want.
  - 5. Strongly Disagree
  - 4. Disagree
  - 3. Neutral

	<ul><li>2. Agree</li><li>1. Strongly Agree</li></ul>
5.)	I easily lose interes
	5 Ct

- 5.) I easily lose interest in things I am most passionate about.
  - 5. Strongly Disagree
  - 4. Disagree
  - 3. Neutral
  - 2. Agree
  - 1. Strongly Agree
- 6.) I am a dedicated and passionate worker.
  - 1. Strongly Disagree
  - 2. Disagree
  - 3. Neutral
  - 4. Agree
  - 5. Strongly Agree
- 7.) When I start a goal or task, it often changes into something new.
  - 5. Strongly Disagree
  - 4. Disagree
  - 3. Neutral
  - 2. Agree
  - 1. Strongly Agree
- 8.) I do not have the ability to remain attentive for long periods of time.
  - 5. Strongly Disagree
  - 4. Disagree
  - 3. Neutral
  - 2. Agree
  - 1. Strongly Agree
- 9.) I tend to complete whatever I start.
  - 1. Strongly Disagree
  - 2. Disagree
  - 3. Neutral

- 4. Agree
- 5. Strongly Agree
- 10.) I become interested in new things easily.
  - 5. Strongly Disagree
  - 4. Disagree
  - 3. Neutral
  - 2. Agree
  - 1. Strongly Agree
- 11.) I have high levels of perseverance and accomplish most things I attempt.
  - 1. Strongly Disagree
  - 2. Disagree
  - 3. Neutral
  - 4. Agree
  - 5. Strongly Agree
- 12.) I am a very motivated person.
  - 1. Strongly Disagree
  - 2. Disagree
  - 3. Neutral
  - 4. Agree
  - 5. Strongly Agree
- 13.) I tend to see the bright future that lies ahead, rather than the hard struggles I currently have.
  - 1. Strongly Disagree
  - 2. Disagree
  - 3. Neutral
  - 4. Agree
  - 5. Strongly Agree
- 14.) I often reach and obtain my goals.
  - 1. Strongly Disagree
  - 2. Disagree
  - 3. Neutral
  - 4. Agree
  - 5. Strongly Agree

# Appendix D

#### **Burnout-30 Scale**

Below is the Burnout – 30 Scale. Please ensure that you correctly read the following 30 statements. Under each statement, there are five ratings ranging from 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 5 (Strongly Agree). Circle the number and rating that most closely describes you. For example, if you do not feel any strong relations to the statement, circle 1 indicating (Strongly Disagree). If you strongly feel a relation to the statement, circle 5 indicating (Strongly Agree).

- 1. I always feel tired or fatigued.
- 1. Strongly Disagree
- 2. Disagree
- 3. Neutral
- 4. Agree
- 5. Strongly Agree
- 2. I always feel physically drained.
- 1. Strongly Disagree
- 2. Disagree
- 3. Neutral
- 4. Agree
- 5. Strongly Agree
- 3. I always feel mentally drained.
- 1. Strongly Disagree
- 2. Disagree
- 3. Neutral
- 4. Agree
- 5. Strongly Agree
- 4. I feel like I cannot do this anymore.
- 1. Strongly Disagree
- 2. Disagree
- 3. Neutral
- 4. Agree
- 5. Strongly Agree

- 5. I become angry easily.
- 1. Strongly Disagree
- 2. Disagree
- 3. Neutral
- 4. Agree
- 5. Strongly Agree
- 6. I am an easy-going person.
- 5. Strongly Disagree
- 4. Disagree
- 3. Neutral
- 2. Agree
- 1. Strongly Agree
- 7. I feel like my work is overwhelming.
- 1. Strongly Disagree
- 2. Disagree
- 3. Neutral
- 4. Agree
- 5. Strongly Agree
- 8. I feel symptoms of burnout from work.
- 1. Strongly Disagree
- 2. Disagree
- 3. Neutral
- 4. Agree
- 5. Strongly Agree
- 9. I hate my job.
- 1. Strongly Disagree
- 2. Disagree
- 3. Neutral
- 4. Agree
- 5. Strongly Agree

- 10. I am easily irritable with work.
- 1. Strongly Disagree
- 2. Disagree
- 3. Neutral
- 4. Agree
- 5. Strongly Agree
- 11. I have little patience.
- 1. Strongly Disagree
- 2. Disagree
- 3. Neutral
- 4. Agree
- 5. Strongly Agree
- 12. I feel that after a full work shift I have no energy to do other things.
- 1. Strongly Disagree
- 2. Disagree
- 3. Neutral
- 4. Agree
- 5. Strongly Agree
- 13. Every morning I wake up tired.
- 1. Strongly Disagree
- 2. Disagree
- 3. Neutral
- 4. Agree
- 5. Strongly Agree
- 14. Just the thought of work every morning makes me feel so tired.
- 1. Strongly Disagree
- 2. Disagree
- 3. Neutral
- 4. Agree
- 5. Strongly Agree

- 15. I feel emotionally and physically tired.
- 1. Strongly Disagree
- 2. Disagree
- 3. Neutral
- 4. Agree
- 5. Strongly Agree
- 16. When I get home after work, I am exhausted.
- 1. Strongly Disagree
- 2. Disagree
- 3. Neutral
- 4. Agree
- 5. Strongly Agree
- 17. I am tired of being tired.
- 1. Strongly Disagree
- 2. Disagree
- 3. Neutral
- 4. Agree
- 5. Strongly Agree
- 18. It does not take much to make me mad or angry.
- 1. Strongly Disagree
- 2. Disagree
- 3. Neutral
- 4. Agree
- 5. Strongly Agree
- 19. I cannot work with others anymore.
- 1. Strongly Disagree
- 2. Disagree
- 3. Neutral
- 4. Agree
- 5. Strongly Agree
- 20. I like my job.
- 5. Strongly Disagree
- 4. Disagree

- 3. Neutral
- 2. Agree
- 1. Strongly Agree
- 21. I love coming in to work every morning.
- 5. Strongly Disagree
- 4. Disagree
- 3. Neutral
- 2. Agree
- 1. Strongly Agree
- 22. Going to work does not bother me.
- 5. Strongly Disagree
- 4. Disagree
- 3. Neutral
- 2. Agree
- 1. Strongly Agree
- 23. People would say I am easy to get along with.
- 5. Strongly Disagree
- 4. Disagree
- 3. Neutral
- 2. Agree
- 1. Strongly Agree
- 24. I get along with my co-workers.
- 5. Strongly Disagree
- 4. Disagree
- 3. Neutral
- 2. Agree
- 1. Strongly Agree
- 25. I love working in the human service field.
- 5. Strongly Disagree
- 4. Disagree

- 3. Neutral 2. Agree 1. Strongly Agree 26. Others would say I am easy to work with.
- 5. Strongly Disagree
- 4. Disagree
- 3. Neutral
- 2. Agree
- 1. Strongly Agree
- 27. I get angry or frustrated easily with coworkers.
- 1. Strongly Disagree
- 2. Disagree
- 3. Neutral
- 4. Agree
- 5. Strongly Agree
- 28. I get angry or easily frustrated with the population I work with.
- 1. Strongly Disagree
- 2. Disagree
- 3. Neutral
- 4. Agree
- 5. Strongly Agree
- 29. I want to feel like I matter at work because I work so hard.
- 1. Strongly Disagree
- 2. Disagree
- 3. Neutral
- 4. Agree
- 5. Strongly Agree
- 30. I am tired of working with other people.
- 1. Strongly Disagree
- 2. Disagree
- 3. Neutral

- 4. Agree5. Strongly Agree

# **Appendix E**

# **Resilience Scale**

Due to copyright and legalities, the only content regarding the Resilience Scale that can be expressed are some sample questions, statements, and instrument items.

The RS is a 25-item measure that focuses on what is going right, rather than wrong in your life and assesses strengths over weakness in an individual. Responses are graded on a 7-point Likert type rating scale ranging from 1 (*Strongly disagree*) to 7 (*Strongly Agree*). Sample questions include, "I feel proud that I have accomplished things in life", "My belief in myself gets me through hard times", and "My life has meaning." The RS can range in scores from 25 (poor resilient qualities) to 175 (extreme resilient qualities).

© 2009 – 2014 Gail M. Wagnild

All Rights Reserved

# Appendix F

# Psychological Capital Questionnaire (PCQ-24)

Citation of the instrument must include the applicable copyright statement listed below.

# Sample items:

Self-Rater Form:

I feel confident analyzing a long-term problem to find a solution.

If I should find myself in a jam at work, I could think of many ways to get out of it.

When I have a setback at work, I have trouble recovering from it, moving on.

Copyright © 2007 Fred L. Luthans, Bruce J. Avolio, and James B. Avey. All rights reserved in all media. Published by Mind Garden, Inc., www.mindgarden.com

#### Appendix G

#### **Grit-N13 and Burnout 30 Field Test Results**

The Grit – N14 Scale and Burnout – 30 were field tested with four participants who are in the direct care field. Each participant has been working in the direct care field for at least eight years. Each participant holds a professional title with at least a master's degree in the human services field. The field test was conducted the same exact way as the actual research will be conducted. Each participant used the online platform Surveymonkey and were given a consent form with instructions. Each participant answered all 14 questions on the Grit – N14 and all 30 questions on the Burnout – 30.

When it came to the instructions, there were a few things that were brought to the researcher's attention. The first thing is that if participants answer no on the consent form, then the research questions and survey in totality should end. Once feedback was given, the consent form was fixed accordingly. Three out of the four participants had no issues with the language or the way each measure was written. One participant stated, "the language should be simpler and was confused on if it was measuring burnout just in work or in totality." This was explained that it is burnout in totality and that burnout was being assessed through two different domains, work and self. This was done with intent to focus on burnout through what previous literature has stated and what is needed to accurately assess burnout in an individual. The Grit N-14 Scale was also reported by one participant to not have a choice of strongly agree, which was corrected to ensure all choices were given correctly.

Results

The results indicated that all participants understood and agreed to the consent form. All four participants answered yes to the consent form and answered both scales in entirety. Participant 1 scored a 57 on the Grit N-14 Scale and a 63 on the Burnout – 30 Scale. Participant 2 scored a 58 on the Grit N-14 Scale and a 74 on the Burnout 30 - Scale. Participant 3 scored a 58 on the Grit N-14 Scale and a 53 on the Burnout 30 - Scale. Participant 4 scored a 52 on the Grit N-14 Scale and 86 on the Burnout – 30 Scale. Participants 2 and 4 are experiencing more burnout in both work and personal life.

As shown in Table 14, Descriptive Statistics display results from the field test of the newly created measures. The field test consisted of 4 people who took the survey. The field test was successful with creating output and receiving input from those that participated.

**Table G14**Field Test Descriptive Statistics

Descriptive Statistics						
	N		Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation
Consent Form		4	1.00	1.00	1.0000	.00000
Grit N-14 Scale		4	52.00	58.00	56.2500	2.87228
Burnout - 30 Scale		4	53.00	86.00	69.0000	14.21267
Valid N (listwise)		4				

Table 15 reflects a Pearson's r correlation revealed that there was no relationship between grit and Burnout on the Field Test, r(2) = -.784, p = .216 (two-tailed). This suggests that Grit does not influences Burnout in direct care staff. This was a field test to establish statistics and a small direct care sample.

**Table G15**Relationship Between Grit and Burnout Field Test

The Relationship Between Grit and Burnout Field Test						
		Grit N-14 Scale	Burnout - 30 Scale			
Grit N-14 Scale	Pearson Correlation	1	784			
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.216			
	N	4	4			
Burnout - 30 Scale	Pearson Correlation	784	1			
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.216				
	N	4	4			